Geometry of Zeros and Bernstein Type Inequalities concerning Growth for Polynomials

by

Eze Raymond Nwaeze

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama December 12, 2015

Keywords: polynomials, zeros, maximum modulus, growth, regions.

Copyright 2015 by Eze Raymond Nwaeze

Approved by

Narendra K Govil, Associate Chair and Alumni Professor, Department of Mathematics. Asheber Abebe, Professor, Department of Mathematics. Dmitry Glotov, Associate Professor, Department of Mathematics. Richard Zalik, Professor, Department of Mathematics. George Flowers, Dean of the Graduate School and Professor of Mechanical Engineering.

Abstract

In this dissertation, we study the problems related to geometry of zeros and Bernstein type inequalities concerning growth for polynomials. The dissertation consists of three chapters followed by list of references used in the text.

In Chapter one, besides presenting a brief introduction of the subject of geometry of zeros of polynomials, we mentioned briefly how the subject of location of zeros of polynomials can be useful in the study of problems in a dynamical system. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n with real coefficients. The well known Eneström-Kakeya theorem states that if $0 < a_0 \leq a_1 \leq a_2 \leq a_3 \dots \leq a_n$, then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the closed unit disk. Here, we generalize and extend this theorem. Also, we derive conditions on coefficients of p(z) and estimate the number of zeros that the polynomial has in a prescribed region.

In Chapter two, we obtain several results which provide annuli containing all the zeros of a complex polynomial. Our result are explicit and the radii obtained are in terms of the coefficients of the polynomial. Also, we develop MATLAB code to construct examples of polynomials for which our results give sharper bound than obtainable from some well known results. The problems of this type were initiated by Gauss and Cauchy. In addition, we considered polynomial of the type $a_n z^n + a_m z^m + a_2 z^2 + a_1 z + a_0$, $3 \le m < n$ and obtained a disk centered at the origin that has at least one zeros of the polynomial. Problems of this type were initiated by Landau.

If $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ is a polynomial of degree n, then it was proved by Bernstein that $\max_{\substack{|z|=1 \ |z|=1}} |p'(z)| \le n \max_{\substack{|z|=1 \ |z|=1}} |p(z)|$, and for $R \ge 1$, $\max_{\substack{|z|=R \ |z|=R}} |p(z)| \le R^n \max_{\substack{|z|=1 \ |z|=1}} |p(z)|$. If $p(z) \ne 0$ in $|z| \le 1$, then $\max_{\substack{|z|=1 \ |z|=1}} |p'(z)| \le \frac{n}{2} \max_{\substack{|z|=1 \ |z|=1}} |p(z)|$ and $\max_{\substack{|z|=R\ge 1}} |p(z)| \le \frac{R^n+1}{2} \max_{\substack{|z|=1 \ |z|=1}} |p(z)|$. The first result was conjectured by Erdös and proved by P. D. Lax and the second result is due to Ankeny and Rivlin. If 0 < r < 1, then Rivlin proved that $\max_{\substack{|z|=r}} |p(z)| \ge (\frac{1+r}{2})^n \max_{\substack{|z|=1}} |p(z)|$. Chapter

three deals with results in this direction where we prove a refinement of this result of Rivlin. Our result is best possible and gives a sharper result for all polynomials of this class except for polynomials with $\min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| = 0$. This chapter also contains some other results in this direction.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my committee members for their time, consideration, and input. Special thanks go to my adviser, Dr. N. K. Govil, for his fatherly role he played in making sure this dissertation was a success. I am also indebted to my lovely wife, parents and siblings for their unalloyed support and understanding during the period of this work. Above all, may God receive all the praise for given me the strength and health for without which this work would have been impossible.

Table of Contents

A	ostrac	et		ii			
Acknowledgments							
1	$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{i}}$	Distribution of Zeros for Polynomials with Monotonicity Condition on					
	Co	oefficie	ents	1			
	1.1	1.1 Introduction					
	1.2	.2 Eneström-Kakeya Theorem and its Extensions					
		1.2.1	Statement of New Results	7			
		1.2.2	Demonstrating Examples	8			
		1.2.3	Proofs of the Theorems	9			
	1.3 Number of Zeros in a specified Domain						
		1.3.1	Statement and Proof of New Results	14			
2	Distribution of Zeros for Polynomials with no Monotonicity Condition						
	on	ı Coeff	ficients	19			
	2.1	Annul	i containing all the Zeros of a Polynomial	20			
		2.1.1	Statement of some New Results	28			
		2.1.2	Proofs of Theorems	34			
	2.2	Landa	u type results concerning Location of Zeros	37			
		2.2.1	Location of Zeros of Trinomials and Quadrinomials	37			
		2.2.2	Statement of some New Results	39			
		2.2.3	Proofs of the Theorems	39			
3	\mathbf{G}	rowth	of Polynomials	43			
	3.1	Introd	luction	43			
	3.2	Some	Improvements of Result due to Ankeny and Rivlin	47			

	3.2.1	Statement and Proof of some New Results	53
3.3	Some	Improvements of a Result due to Rivlin	56
	3.3.1	More New Results	58
Bibliog	raphy		66

Chapter 1

Distribution of Zeros for Polynomials with Monotonicity Condition on Coefficients

1.1 Introduction

Let $p(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + a_3 z^3 + \cdots + a_n z^n$ be a polynomial of degree n. By the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra (historically, the first important result concerning the roots of an algebraic equation), p(z) has exactly n zeros in the complex plane, counting multiplicity. But this theorem does not say anything regarding the location of zeros of the polynomial, that is, the region which contains some or all of the zeros of a polynomial. Problems involving location of the zeros of a polynomial, besides being of theoretical interest, find applications in many areas of applied mathematics such as coding theory, cryptography, combinatorics, number theory, mathematical biology and engineering [5, 22, 70, 93, 99, 104]. In particular, problems dealing with location of zeros of the polynomial play an important role, for example, in solving digital audio signal processing problems [129], control engineering problems [20], and eigenvalue problems in mathematical physics [115].

Since Abel and Ruffini proved that there is no general algebraic solution to polynomial equations of degree five or higher, the problem of finding a region containing all the zeros of a polynomial became much more interesting, and over a period a large number of results have been provided in this direction. It may be remarked that there are methods, for example Ehrlich-Aberth's type (see [1, 44, 98]) for the simultaneous determination of the zeros of algebraic polynomials, and there are studies to accelerate convergence and increase computational efficiency of these methods (for example, see [92, 101]). These methods which are of course very useful, because they give approximations to the zeros of a polynomial can possibly become more efficient when combined with the results dealing with the region containing all the zeros of a polynomial, because an accurate estimate of the annulus containing all the zeros of a polynomial can considerably reduce the amount of work needed to find exact zeros, and so there is always a need for better estimates for the region containing all the zeros of a polynomial. Several monographs have been written on this subject and related subject of approximation theory (for example, see [87, 93, 94, 110]).

To see how the study of the location of zeros of a polynomial can be useful in control theory, let us consider a transfer function H(s) in a dynamical system. If we have an input function, say, X(s), and an output function Y(s), we define $H(s) = \frac{Y(s)}{X(s)}$. In discrete time systems, the function can also be written as $H(z) = \frac{Y(z)}{X(z)}$ and is often referred to as the pulse transfer function. The zeros z_i of the system satisfy $Y(z_i) = 0$, and poles z_j of the system satisfy $X(z_j) = 0$. Poles and zeros of a transfer function are the frequencies for which the value of the transfer function becomes infinity or zero, respectively. The values of the poles and the zeros determine whether the system is stable, and how well the system performs. Control systems, in the simplest sense, can be designed by assigning simple values to the poles and zeros of the system. Physically reliable control systems must have a number of poles greater than or equal to the number of zeros. Systems that satisfy this relationship are called proper. So, the problem of finding the roots of either $Y(z_i) = 0$ or $X(z_j) = 0$, and the location of these roots are very important from a stability point of view. As a matter of fact, the closer the zeros are to the imaginary axis, the greater the stabilizing effect. This, for example, somewhat illustrates how the problem of finding the location of zeros can be of great importance.

The problems concerning the location of the zeros of a polynomial can mainly be divided in two categories, namely:

Given an integer k, 1 ≤ k ≤ n, find a region R = R(a₀, a₁, a₂,..., a_n) containing at least or exactly k zeros of p(z). In particular, one would like to find the smallest circle |z| = r which will enclose the k zeros of the polynomial. Such results are very useful for

solving practical problems in numerical analysis; for example, in finding the roots of an algebraic equation by using Newton-Raphson Method, and finding eigenvalues. Note that such results can be of great help in problems dealing with eigenvalues because one is often not interested in computing all eigenvalues precisely.

Given a region R, to find the number k = k(a₀, a₁, a₂,..., a_n) such that k number of zeros lie in the region R. In particular, to find the number k of zeros whose moduli do not exceed some prescribed value, say r.

This subject has been studied extensively. Due to the limited space, it would not be possible to include all the results in this subject, and therefore many important results in this area, which we would have liked to include, had to be excluded (for a more detailed study of the subject, we refer, in particular, to the monograph and books written by Dieudonné [42], Marden [87], Milovanović, Mitrinović, and Rassias [93], Rahman and Schmeisser [110], and recent articles due to Gardner and Govil [50], and Govil and Nwaeze [62]).

This chapter contains three sections. Section 1.1 lays a historical background coupled with a motivational interest to the subject matter. Section 1.2 discusses the first category of problem, stated above, with restriction on the coefficients of the given polynomial under consideration, while Section 1.3 deals with results of the second category as discussed above.

1.2 Eneström-Kakeya Theorem and its Extensions

We start by stating a classical result due to Eneström [45] and Kakeya [76] concerning the bounds for the moduli of zeros of polynomials having positive coefficients. It is often stated as:

Theorem 1.2.1 (Eneström-Kakeya). Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n with real coefficients satisfying $0 < a_0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \dots \le a_n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in $|z| \le 1$.

For the sake of completeness, we present here the proof of the above theorem

Proof. Define f by the equation

$$p(z)(1-z) = a_0 + (a_1 - a_0)z + (a_2 - a_1)z^2 + (a_3 - a_2)z^3 + \dots + (a_n - a_{n-1})z^n - a_n z^{n+1}$$
$$= f(z) - a_n z^{n+1}.$$

Then for |z| = 1, we have

$$|f(z)| \le |a_0| + |a_1 - a_0| + |a_2 - a_1| + \dots + |a_n - a_{n-1}|$$

= $a_0 + (a_1 - a_0) + (a_2 - a_1) + \dots + (a_n - a_{n-1})$
= a_n .

Notice that the function $z^n f(1/z) = \sum_{j=0}^n (a_j - a_{j-1}) z^{n-j}$, $a_{-1} = 0$ has the same bound on |z| = 1 as the function f. Namely, $|z^n f(1/z)| \le a_n$ for |z| = 1. Since $z^n f(1/z)$ is analytic in $|z| \le 1$, we have $|z^n f(1/z)| \le a_n$ for $|z| \le 1$ by the maximum modulus principle. Hence, $|f(1/z)| \le a_n/|z|^n$ for $|z| \le 1$. Replacing z by 1/z, we see that $|f(z)| \le a_n|z|^n$ for $|z| \ge 1$, and making use of this, we get

$$|(1-z)p(z)| = |f(z) - a_n z^{n+1}|$$

$$\ge a_n |z|^{n+1} - |f(z)|$$

$$\ge a_n |z|^{n+1} - a_n |z|^n$$

$$= a_n |z|^n (|z| - 1).$$

So if |z| > 1 then $(1 - z)p(z) \neq 0$. Therefore, all the zeros of p lie in $|z| \leq 1$.

An equivalent, but perhaps more useful, statement of the above theorem due, in fact, to Eneström [45], is the following:

Theorem 1.2.2. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n with real coefficients satisfying $a_j > 0$ for all $j \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots, n\}$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $\alpha \le |z| \le \beta$, where $\alpha = \min_{0 \le j \le n} \{a_j/a_{j+1}\}$, and $\beta = \max_{0 \le j \le n} \{a_j/a_{j+1}\}$.

Following this line of argument, Anderson, Saff and Varga [6] showed that

Theorem 1.2.3. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree $n \ge 1$ with real coefficients satisfying $\beta a_1 - a_0 > 0$ and $a_j > 0$ for all $j \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots, n\}$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk $|z| \le \beta$, where β is as defined above in Theorem 1.2.2.

In the literature there exist several extensions and generalizations of Theorem 1.2.1 (see [7], [75] and [81]). Joyal, Labelle and Rahman [75] extended Theorem 1.2.1 to the polynomials whose coefficients are monotonic but not necessarily nonnegative. In fact, they proved the following result:

Theorem 1.2.4. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n with real coefficients satisfying $a_0 \leq a_1 \leq a_2 \leq a_3 \dots \leq a_n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk $|z| \leq \frac{1}{|a_n|}(a_n - a_0 + |a_0|)$.

Of course, when $a_0 > 0$ then Theorem 1.2.4 reduces to Theorem 1.2.1. It is important to note here that Theorem 1.2.4, just like the original Eneström-Kakeya theorem, is only applicable to polynomials with real coefficients. In 1968, Govil and Rahman [65] extended the Eneström-Kakeya theorem to polynomials with complex coefficients:

Theorem 1.2.5. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a complex polynomial with coefficients satisfying $|\arg a_j - \beta| \le \alpha \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ for $j \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., n\}$ and for some real α and β , and $|a_0| \le |a_1| \le |a_2| \le |a_3| \dots \le |a_n|$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in $|z| \le \cos \alpha + \sin \alpha + \frac{2 \sin \alpha}{|a_n|} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |a_j|$.

With $\alpha = \beta = 0$, Theorem 1.2.5 reduces to Theorem 1.2.1. In the same paper, Govil and Rahman gave a result for polynomials with complex coefficients but impose a nonnegativity and monotonicity condition on the real or imaginary parts of the coefficients of the polynomial. Specifically, they [65] proved **Theorem 1.2.6.** Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a complex polynomial with coefficients where $Rea_j = \alpha_j$ and $Ima_j = \beta_j$ for $j \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., n\}$ satisfying $0 \le \alpha_0 \le \alpha_1 \le \alpha_2 \le \alpha_3 ... \le \alpha_n$, $\alpha_n \ne 0$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in $|z| \le 1 + \frac{2}{|\alpha_n|} \sum_{j=0}^{n} |\beta_j|$.

In 1996, Aziz and Zarger [13] further extended Theorem 1.2.1 by relaxing the hypothesis in several ways and among other things proved the following result:

Theorem 1.2.7. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n such that for some $k \ge 1$, $0 < a_0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \dots \le a_{n-1} \le ka_n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk $|z+k-1| \le k$.

In 2012, they further generalized Theorem 1.2.7 which is an interesting extension of Theorem 1.2.1. In particular, they [15] proved the following results:

Theorem 1.2.8. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree *n*. If for some positive numbers *k* and ρ with $k \ge 1$, $0 < \rho \le 1$, $0 \le \rho a_0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \dots \le a_{n-1} \le ka_n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk

$$|z+k-1| \le k + \frac{2a_0}{a_n}(1-\rho).$$

Theorem 1.2.9. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n. If for some positive number ρ , $0 < \rho \leq 1$, and for some nonnegative integer λ , $0 \leq \lambda \leq n$, $\rho a_0 \leq a_1 \leq a_2 \leq a_3 \dots \leq a_{\lambda-1} \leq a_{\lambda} \geq a_{\lambda+1} \geq \dots \geq a_{n-1} \geq a_n$, then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk

$$\left|z + \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_n} - 1\right| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \left[2a_\lambda - a_{n-1} + (2-\rho)|a_0| - \rho a_0\right].$$

Looking at Theorem 1.2.8, one might want to know what happens if ρa_0 is NOT nonnegative. In this section, we prove some extensions and generalization of Theorems 1.2.8 and 1.2.9 which in turns gives an answer to our enquiry.

1.2.1 Statement of New Results

Theorem 1.2.10. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree *n*. If for some real numbers α and β , $a_0 - \beta \le a_1 \le a_2 \le \ldots \le a_{n-1} \le a_n + \alpha$, then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk

$$\left|z + \frac{\alpha}{a_n}\right| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \left[a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0|\right].$$

If $\alpha = (k-1)a_n$ with $k \ge 1$ and $\beta = (1-\rho)a_0$ with $0 < \rho \le 1$, we get the following.

Corollary 1.2.11. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree *n*. If for some positive numbers $k \ge 1$ and ρ , with $0 < \rho \le 1$, $\rho a_0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le \ldots \le a_{n-1} \le ka_n$, then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk

$$|z+k-1| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \Big[(ka_n - \rho a_0) + |a_0|(2-\rho) \Big].$$

If $a_0 > 0$, then Corollary 1.2.11 reduces to Theorem 1.2.8.

Theorem 1.2.12. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n. If for some real number s and for some nonnegative integer λ , $0 \le \lambda \le n$, $a_0 - s \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \dots \le a_{\lambda-1} \le a_{\lambda} \ge a_{\lambda+1} \ge \dots \ge a_{n-1} \ge a_n$, then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk

$$\left|z + \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_n} - 1\right| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \left[2a_\lambda - a_{n-1} + s - a_0 + |s| + |a_0|\right].$$

If we take $s = (1 - \rho)a_0$, with $0 < \rho \le 1$, then Theorem 1.2.12 becomes Theorem 1.2.9. Instead of proving Theorem 1.2.12, we shall prove a more general case. In fact, we prove the following result:

Theorem 1.2.13. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n. If for some real number t, s and for some nonnegative integer $\lambda, 0 \le \lambda \le n, a_0 - s \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \dots \le a_{\lambda-1} \le a_{\lambda$

 $a_{\lambda} \geq a_{\lambda+1} \geq \cdots \geq a_{n-1} \geq a_n + t$, then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disk

$$\left|z + \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_n} - \left(1 + \frac{t}{a_n}\right)\right| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \Big[2a_\lambda - a_{n-1} + s - a_0 + |s| + |a_0| + |t|\Big].$$

We now present some examples to illustrate the importance of Theorems 1.2.10 and 1.2.13 over Theorems 1.2.1, 1.2.4, 1.2.7 and 1.2.8.

1.2.2 Demonstrating Examples

.

Example 1.2.14. Let us consider the polynomial

$$p(z) = 3z^5 + 4z^4 + 3z^3 + 2z^2 + z - 1.$$

The coefficients here are $a_5 = 3$, $a_4 = 4$, $a_3 = 3$, $a_2 = 2$, $a_1 = 1$ and $a_0 = -1$. We cannot apply Theorems 1.2.1, 1.2.4, 1.2.7 and 1.2.8. But we can apply Theorem 1.2.10 to determine where all the zeros of the polynomial lie. Using MATLAB, we obtain the following zeros : -0.9154 + 0.4962i, -0.9154 - 0.4962i, 0.0530 + 0.8845i, 0.0530 - 0.8845i, 0.3916. These zeros actually lie in the disk $|z + 2/3| \le 1.1403$. But if we take $\alpha = 2$ and $\beta = 0$, Theorem 1.2.10 gives that all the zeros of the polynomial lie in the closed disk $|z + 2/3| \le 7/3$.

Example 1.2.15. Next, consider

$$q(z) = -z^{6} + 2z^{5} + 2z^{4} + 3z^{3} + z^{2} - 2.$$

The coefficients of q(z) are $a_6 = -1$, $a_5 = 2$, $a_4 = 2$, $a_3 = 3$, $a_2 = 1$, $a_1 = 0$ and $a_0 = -2$. Using MATLAB, we obtain the following zeros: 3.0197, -0.7682 + 0.5814i, -0.7682 - 0.5814i, -0.0803 + 1.0233i, -0.0803 - 1.0233i, 0.6773. Taking $\lambda = 3$, t = 1 and s = 0, Theorem 1.2.13 gives that the zeros lie in $|z - 2| \le 9$.

1.2.3 Proofs of the Theorems

Proof of Theorem 1.2.10. Consider the polynomial

$$g(z) = (1-z)p(z)$$

$$= -a_n z^{n+1} + (a_n - a_{n-1})z^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0)z + a_0$$

$$= -a_n z^{n+1} - \alpha z^n + (a_n + \alpha - a_{n-1})z^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0 + \beta)z - \beta z + a_0$$

$$= -z^n (a_n z + \alpha) + (a_n + \alpha - a_{n-1})z^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0 + \beta)z - \beta z + a_0$$

$$= -z^n (a_n z + \alpha) + \phi(z)$$

where

$$\phi(z) = (a_n + \alpha - a_{n-1})z^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0 + \beta)z - \beta z + a_0.$$

Now for |z| = 1, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\phi(z)| &\leq |a_n + \alpha - a_{n-1}| + |a_{n-1} - a_{n-2}| + \dots + |a_1 - a_0 + \beta| + |\beta| + |a_0| \\ &= a_n + \alpha - a_{n-1} + a_{n-1} - a_{n-2} + \dots + a_1 - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0| \\ &= a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0|. \end{aligned}$$

Since this is true for all complex number with a unit modulus, then it must also be true for 1/z. With this in mind, we have

$$|z^{n}\phi(1/z)| \le a_{n} + \alpha - a_{0} + \beta + |\beta| + |a_{0}| \quad \text{for all } z \text{ with } |z| = 1.$$
(1.1)

Also, the function $\Phi(z) = z^n \phi(1/z)$ is analytic in $|z| \le 1$, hence, the Inequality (1.1) holds also inside the unit circle. That is,

$$|\phi(1/z)| \le \frac{a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0|}{|z|^n}$$
 for all z with $|z| \le 1$.

Replacing z by 1/z, we get

$$|\phi(z)| \le \left[a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0|\right] |z|^n \quad \text{for all } z \text{ with } |z| \ge 1.$$

Now for $|z| \ge 1$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} |g(z)| &= |-z^{n}(a_{n}z+\alpha) + \phi(z)| \\ &\geq |z^{n}||a_{n}z+\alpha| - |\phi(z)| \\ &\geq |z^{n}||a_{n}z+\alpha| - \left[a_{n}+\alpha - a_{0}+\beta + |\beta| + |a_{0}|\right]|z|^{n} \\ &= |z^{n}|\left(|a_{n}z+\alpha| - \left[a_{n}+\alpha - a_{0}+\beta + |\beta| + |a_{0}|\right]\right) \\ &> 0, \end{split}$$

which is true if and only if

$$|a_n z + \alpha| > [a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0|];$$

that is,

$$|z + \frac{\alpha}{a_n}| > \frac{1}{|a_n|} \Big[a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0| \Big].$$

Thus, all the zeros of g(z) whose modulus is greater than or equal to 1 lie in

$$|z + \frac{\alpha}{a_n}| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \Big[a_n + \alpha - a_0 + \beta + |\beta| + |a_0| \Big].$$
(1.2)

But those zeros of p(z) whose modulus is less than 1 satisfy (1.2). Also, all the zeros of p(z) are zeros of g(z). That completes the proof of Theorem 1.2.10.

Proof of Theorem 1.2.13. Consider the polynomial

$$g(z) = (1 - z)p(z)$$

$$= -a_n z^{n+1} + (a_n - a_{n-1})z^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0)z + a_0$$

$$= -a_n z^{n+1} + (a_n - a_{n-1})z^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_{\lambda+1} - a_{\lambda})z^{\lambda+1}$$

$$+ (a_{\lambda} - a_{\lambda-1})z^{\lambda} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0)z + a_0$$

$$= -z^n [a_n z - a_n + a_{n-1} - t] - tz^n + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_{\lambda+1} - a_{\lambda})z^{\lambda+1}$$

$$+ (a_{\lambda} - a_{\lambda-1})z^{\lambda} + \dots + (a_1 - a_0 + s)z - sz + a_0$$

$$= -z^n [a_n z - a_n + a_{n-1} - t] + \psi(z)$$

where

$$\psi(z) = -tz^{n} + (a_{n-1} - a_{n-2})z^{n-1} + \dots + (a_{\lambda+1} - a_{\lambda})z^{\lambda+1} + (a_{\lambda} - a_{\lambda-1})z^{\lambda} + \dots + (a_{1} - a_{0} + s)z - sz + a_{0}.$$

For |z| = 1, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(z)| &\leq |t| + |a_{n-1} - a_{n-2}| + \dots + |a_{\lambda+1} - a_{\lambda}| + |a_{\lambda} - a_{\lambda-1}| + \dots + |a_1 - a_0 + s| + |s| + |a_0| \\ &= |t| + a_{n-2} - a_{n-1} + \dots + a_{\lambda} - a_{\lambda+1} + a_{\lambda} - a_{\lambda-1} + \dots + a_1 - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \\ &= |t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_{\lambda} - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0|. \end{aligned}$$

It is clear that

$$|z^{n}\psi(1/z)| \le |t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_{\lambda} - a_{0} + s + |s| + |a_{0}|$$
(1.3)

on the unit circle. Since the function $\Psi(z) = z^n \psi(1/z)$ is analytic in $|z| \le 1$, the Inequality (1.3) holds also inside the unit circle. That is,

$$|\psi(1/z)| \le \frac{|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_{\lambda} - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0|}{|z|^n}$$

for $|z| \leq 1$. Replacing z by 1/z we get

$$|\psi(z)| \le \left[|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_{\lambda} - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \right] |z|^n$$

for $|z| \ge 1$.

Now for $|z| \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |g(z)| &\ge |z^n| |a_n z - a_n + a_{n-1} - t| - |\psi(z)| \\ &\ge |z^n| |a_n z - a_n + a_{n-1} - t| - \left[|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_\lambda - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \right] |z|^n \\ &= |z^n| \left(|a_n z - a_n + a_{n-1} - t| - \left[|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_\lambda - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \right] \right) \\ &> 0, \end{aligned}$$

which holds if and only if

$$|a_n z - a_n + a_{n-1} - t| > \Big[|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_\lambda - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \Big];$$

that is,

$$\left|z + \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_n} - \left(1 + \frac{t}{a_n}\right)\right| > \frac{1}{|a_n|} \left[|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_\lambda - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \right].$$

Hence, the zeros of p(z) are in the closed disk

$$\left|z + \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_n} - \left(1 + \frac{t}{a_n}\right)\right| \le \frac{1}{|a_n|} \Big[|t| - a_{n-1} + 2a_\lambda - a_0 + s + |s| + |a_0| \Big].$$

That completes the proof.

1.3 Number of Zeros in a specified Domain

By putting a restriction on the coefficients of a polynomial similar to that of the Eneström-Kakeya theorem, Mohammad [95] proved the following on the number of zeros that can be found in a specified disk.

Theorem 1.3.1. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial with real coefficients satisfying $0 < a_0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \dots \le a_n$. Then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \le \frac{1}{2}$ does not exceed

$$1 + \frac{1}{\log 2} \log \left(\frac{a_n}{a_0}\right)$$

In her dissertation work, Dewan [34] weakens the hypotheses of Theorem 1.3.1 and proved the following two results for polynomials with complex coefficients .

Theorem 1.3.2. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial such that $|\arg a_j - \beta| \le \alpha \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ for $j \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., n\}$ and for some real α and β , and $0 < |a_0| \le |a_1| \le |a_2| \le |a_3| \dots \le |a_n|$. Then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \le 1/2$ does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 2} \log \frac{|a_n|(\cos \alpha + \sin \alpha + 1) + 2\sin \alpha \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_j|}{|a_0|}.$$

For $\alpha = 0$, Theorem 1.3.2 reduces to Theorem 1.3.1.

Theorem 1.3.3. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ where $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j and $0 < \alpha_0 \le \alpha_1 \le \alpha_2 \le \cdots \le \alpha_n$. Then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \le 1/2$ does not exceed

$$1 + \frac{1}{\log 2} \log \frac{\alpha_n + \sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j|}{|a_0|}$$

Pukhta [105] generalized Theorems 1.3.2 and 1.3.3 by finding the number of zeros in $|z| \leq \delta$ for $0 < \delta < 1$. The next theorem, due to Pukhta [105], deals with a monotonicity condition on the moduli of the coefficients.

Theorem 1.3.4. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial such that $|\arg a_j - \beta| \le \alpha \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ for $j \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., n\}$ and for some real α and β , and $0 < |a_0| \le |a_1| \le |a_2| \le |a_3| \dots \le |a_n|$. Then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \le \delta$, $0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{|a_n|(\cos \alpha + \sin \alpha + 1) + 2\sin \alpha \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_j|}{|a_0|}$$

Pukhta [105] also gave a result which involved a monotonicity condition on the real part of the coefficients. Though the proof presented by Pukhta is correct, there was a slight typographical error in the statement of the result as it appeared in print. The correct statement of the theorem is as follows.

Theorem 1.3.5. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ where $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j and $0 < \alpha_0 \le \alpha_1 \le \alpha_2 \le \cdots \le \alpha_n$. Then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \le \delta$, $0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log 2\left[\frac{\alpha_n + \sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j|}{|a_0|}\right].$$

In this section we generalize Theorem 1.3.5 and prove the following. It may be remarked that for values of δ very close to one, the above theorems and Theorem 1.3.6 given below do not give a satisfactory bound.

1.3.1 Statement and Proof of New Results

Theorem 1.3.6. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$, $a_0 \neq 0$, be a polynomial of degree n with complex coefficients. If $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j. If for some real numbers t, and for some $\lambda \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots n\}, t + \alpha_n \leq \alpha_{n-1} \leq \dots \leq \alpha_\lambda \geq \alpha_{\lambda-1} \geq \alpha_{\lambda-2} \geq \dots \geq \alpha_1 \geq \alpha_0$, then

the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \leq \delta$, $0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M_1}{|a_0|},$$

where

$$M_1 = |\alpha_0| - \alpha_0 + |\alpha_n| - \alpha_n + |t| - t + 2\alpha_\lambda + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j|.$$

For t = 0 we get the following.

Corollary 1.3.7. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$, $a_0 \neq 0$, be a polynomial of degree n with complex coefficients. If $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j. If for some $\lambda \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots n\}$,

$$\alpha_n \leq \alpha_{n-1} \leq \ldots \leq \alpha_\lambda \geq \alpha_{\lambda-1} \geq \alpha_{\lambda-2} \geq \ldots \geq \alpha_1 \geq \alpha_0,$$

then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \leq \delta$, $0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M_1}{|a_0|},$$

where

$$M_{1} = |\alpha_{0}| - \alpha_{0} + |\alpha_{n}| - \alpha_{n} + 2\alpha_{\lambda} + 2\sum_{j=0}^{n} |\beta_{j}|.$$

If $\lambda = 0$, then Corollary 1.3.7 reduces to

Corollary 1.3.8. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$, $a_0 \neq 0$, be a polynomial of degree n with complex coefficients. If $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j. Suppose $\alpha_n \leq \alpha_{n-1} \leq \ldots \leq \alpha_0$, then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \leq \delta$, $0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M_1}{|a_0|},$$

where

$$M_1 = |\alpha_0| + \alpha_0 + |\alpha_n| - \alpha_n + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j|.$$

If, also, $\lambda = n$, then Corollary 1.3.7 reduces to

Corollary 1.3.9. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$, $a_0 \neq 0$, be a polynomial of degree n with complex coefficients. If $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j. Suppose $\alpha_n \ge \alpha_{n-1} \ge \alpha_{n-2} \ge \ldots \ge \alpha_1 \ge \alpha_0$, then the number of zeros of p(z) in $|z| \le \delta$, $0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M_1}{|a_0|}$$

where

$$M_1 = |\alpha_0| - \alpha_0 + |\alpha_n| + \alpha_n + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j|$$

Suppose we assume $\alpha_0 > 0$ then Corollary 1.3.9 becomes Theorem 1.3.5. Instead of proving Theorem 1.3.6, we prove the following more general result.

Theorem 1.3.10. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$, $a_0 \neq 0$, be a polynomial of degree n with complex coefficients. If $Re(a_j) = \alpha_j$ and $Im(a_j) = \beta_j$ for all j and if for some real numbers t, s, and for some $\lambda \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots n\}, \quad t + \alpha_n \leq \alpha_{n-1} \leq \dots \leq \alpha_\lambda \geq \alpha_{\lambda-1} \geq \alpha_{\lambda-2} \geq \dots \geq \alpha_1 \geq \alpha_0 - s$, then the number of zeros of p in $|z| \leq \delta, 0 < \delta < 1$, does not exceed

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M_2}{|a_0|}$$

where

$$M_2 = |\alpha_0| - \alpha_0 + |\alpha_n| - \alpha_n + |t| - t + |s| + s + 2\alpha_\lambda + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j|.$$

Clearly M_2 is nonnegative.

For the proof of our result we shall make use of the following lemma (see [120, p. 171]).

Lemma 1.3.11. Let F(z) be analytic in $|z| \leq R$. Let $|F(z)| \leq M$ in the disk $|z| \leq R$ and suppose $F(0) \neq 0$. Then, for $0 < \delta < 1$, the number of zeros of F(z) in the disk $|z| \leq \delta R$ is less than

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M}{|F(0)|}$$

Proof of Theorem 1.3.10. Consider the polynomial

$$g(z) = (1 - z)p(z)$$

= $-a_n z^{n+1} + \sum_{j=1}^n (a_j - a_{j-1})z^j + a_0$

For |z| = 1,

$$\begin{split} |g(z)| &\leq |a_n| + \sum_{j=1}^n |a_j - a_{j-1}| + |a_0| \\ &\leq |\alpha_n| + |\beta_n| + \sum_{j=1}^n |\alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1}| + \sum_{j=1}^n |\beta_j - \beta_{j-1}| + |\alpha_0| + |\beta_0| \\ &\leq |\alpha_n| + |\alpha_0| + \sum_{j=1}^n |\alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1}| + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j| \\ &= |\alpha_n| + |\alpha_0| + \sum_{j=2}^{n-2} |\alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1}| + |\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_{n-2}| + |\alpha_n - \alpha_{n-1}| + |\alpha_1 - \alpha_0| + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j| \\ &\leq |\alpha_0| - \alpha_0 + |\alpha_n| - \alpha_n + \alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_1 + |t| - t + |s| + s + \sum_{j=2}^\lambda |\alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1}| + \sum_{j=\lambda+1}^{n-2} |\alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1}| \\ &+ 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j| \\ &= |\alpha_0| - \alpha_0 + |\alpha_n| - \alpha_n + |t| - t + |s| + s + 2\alpha_\lambda + 2\sum_{j=0}^n |\beta_j| \\ &= M_2. \end{split}$$

Now g(z) is analytic in $|z| \leq 1$, and $|g(z)| \leq M_2$ for |z| = 1. So by Lemma 1.3.11 and the maximum modulus principle, the number of zeros of g (and hence of p) in $|z| \leq \delta$ is less than

or equal to

$$\frac{1}{\log 1/\delta} \log \frac{M_2}{|a_0|}.$$

Hence, the theorem follows.

18

Chapter 2

Distribution of Zeros for Polynomials with no Monotonicity Condition on Coefficients

The earliest result concerning the location of the zeros of a polynomial is probably due to Gauss who incidental to his proofs of the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra showed in 1816 that a polynomial $p(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + a_3 z^3 + \cdots + a_n z^n$, with all a_j real, has no zeros outside the circle |z| = R, where $R = \max_{1 \le j \le n} (n2^{1/2} |a_j|)^{1/j}$.

However, in the case of arbitrary real or complex a_j , Gauss [54] in 1849 showed that R may be taken as the positive root of the equation: $z^n - 2^{1/2}(|a_1|z^{n-1} + \cdots + |a_n|) = 0.$

As a further indication of Gauss' interest in the location of the zeros of a polynomial, we have his letter (see collected works of Gauss) to Schumacher dated April 2, 1833, in which he tells of having written enough on this topic to fill several volumes, but the only results he published are those in Gauss [54]. Even, his important result, Theorem 2.0.12 stated below on the mechanical interpretation of the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial comes to us only by a brief entry he made presumably in about 1836 in a notebook otherwise devoted to astronomy.

Theorem 2.0.12. The zeros of the function $F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{m_j}{z - z_j}$, where all m_j are real, are the points of the equilibrium in the field of force due the system of k masses m_j at the fixed points z_j repelling a unit movable mass at z according to the inverse distance law.

Around 1829, Cauchy [24] (also, see the book of Marden [87, Theorem 27.1, p. 122]) derived more exact bounds for the moduli of the zeros of a polynomial than those given by Gauss, by proving the following **Theorem 2.0.13.** Let $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$, be a complex polynomial. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the disc

$$\{z : |z| \le \eta\} \subset \{z : |z| < 1 + A\},\tag{2.1}$$

where $A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|$, and η is the unique positive root of the real coefficient equation

$$z^{n} - |a_{n-1}|z^{n-1} - |a_{n-2}|z^{n-2} - \dots - |a_{1}|z - |a_{0}| = 0$$
(2.2)

The result is best possible and the bound is attained when p(z) is the polynomial on the left hand side of (2.2).

The proof follows easily from the inequality

$$|p(z)| \ge |z|^n - (|a_{n-1}||z|^{n-1} + |a_{n-2}||z|^{n-2} + \dots + |a_1||z| + |a_0|) = 0,$$
(2.3)

which can be derived easily on applying Triangle Inequality to $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$.

2.1 Annuli containing all the Zeros of a Polynomial

If one applies the above Theorem 2.0.13 of Cauchy to the polynomial $P(z) = z^n p(1/z)$ and combine it with Theorem 2.0.13, one easily gets

Theorem 2.1.1 (Cauchy). All the zeros of the polynomial $p(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, lie in the annulus $r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2$, where r_1 is the unique positive root of the equation

$$|a_n|z^n + |a_{n-1}|z^{n-1} + \dots + |a_1|z - |a_0| = 0,$$
(2.4)

and r_2 is the unique positive root of the equation

$$|a_0| + |a_1|z + \dots + |a_{n-1}|z^{n-1} - |a_n|z^n = 0.$$
(2.5)

Although the above result of Cauchy gives an annulus containing all the zeros of a polynomial, it is implicit, in the sense, that in order to find the annulus containing all the zeros of a polynomial, one needs to compute the zeros of two other polynomials.

In a bid to get an explicit bound, Datt and Govil [28] (see also Dewan [35]) proved

Theorem 2.1.2. Let $p(z) = z^n + a_{n-1}z^{n-1} + ... + a_1z + a_0$, be a polynomial of degree n and $A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|$, as defined in Theorem 2.0.13. Then p(z) has all its zeros in the ring shaped region

$$\frac{|a_0|}{2\left(1+A\right)^{n-1}\left(An+1\right)} \le |z| \le 1 + \lambda_0 A,\tag{2.6}$$

where λ_0 is the unique positive root of the equation $x = 1 - 1/(1 + Ax)^n$ in the interval (0, 1). The upper bound $1 + \lambda_0 A$ in the above given region (2.6) is best possible and is attained for the polynomial $p(z) = z^n - A(z^{n-1} + ... + z + 1)$.

In case one does not wish to solve the equation $x = 1 - 1/(1 + Ax)^n$, then in order to apply the above result of Datt and Govil [28], one can apply the following result also due to Datt and Govil [28], which in every case clearly gives an improvement over Theorem 2.0.13 of Cauchy [24].

Theorem 2.1.3. Let $p(z) = z^n + a_{n-1}z^{n-1} + \ldots + a_1z + a_0$, be a polynomial of degree n and

$$A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|.$$

Then p(z) has all its zeros in the ring shaped region

$$\frac{|a_0|}{2\left(1+A\right)^{n-1}\left(An+1\right)} \le |z| \le 1 + \left(1 - \frac{1}{(1+A)^n}\right)A.$$
(2.7)

Since, always $\left(1 - \frac{1}{(1+A)^n}\right) < 1$, the above Theorem 2.1.3 in every situation sharpens Theorem 2.0.13 due to Cauchy. Although, since the beginning, binomial coefficients defined by $C(n,k) = \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!}$,

0! = 1 have appeared in the derivation or as a part of closed expressions of bounds, the Fibonacci's numbers defined by $F_0 = 0$, $F_1 = 1$, and $F_j = F_{j-1} + F_{j-2}$ for $j \ge 2$ have not appeared either in implicit bounds or explicit bounds for the moduli of the zeros. Diaz-Barrero [39] proved the following result, which gives circular domains containing all the zeros of a polynomial where binomial coefficients and Fibonacci's numbers appear. He also gives an example of a polynomial for which the above theorem gives a better bound than the bound obtainable from Theorem 2.0.13 of Cauchy [24].

In the sequel, we will interchange between C(n, j) and C_j^n as it deems convenient. We now state the result due to Diaz-Barrero [39].

Theorem 2.1.4. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ $(a_j \neq 0, 0 \le j \le n)$ be a complex monic polynomial. Then all its zeros lie in the disk $C_1 = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \le r_1\}$ or $C_2 = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \le r_2\}$, where

$$r_{1} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \sqrt[k]{\frac{2^{n-1}C_{2}^{n+1}}{k^{2}C_{k}^{n}}} |a_{n-k}| \right\}$$
$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \sqrt[k]{\frac{F_{3n}}{C_{k}^{n}2^{k}F_{k}}} |a_{n-k}| \right\}.$$

The proof of the above theorem depends on the identities

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^2 C_k^n = 2^{n-2} n(n+1)$$
(2.8)

and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} C_k^n 2^k F_k = F_{3n}, \tag{2.9}$$

where F_j are the Fibonacci's numbers, and C_k^n the binomial coefficients.

The following result, which provides an annulus region containing all the zeros of a polynomial is also due to Diaz-Barrero [40].

Theorem 2.1.5. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ $(a_j \neq 0, \quad 0 \leq j \leq n)$ be a nonconstant complex polynomial. Then all its zeros lie in the annulus $C = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$\begin{aligned} r_1 &= \frac{3}{2} \min_{1 \le j \le n} \left\{ \frac{2^n F_j C_j^n}{F_{4n}} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_j} \right| \right\}^{1/j}, \\ r_2 &= \frac{2}{3} \max_{1 \le j \le n} \left\{ \frac{F_{4n}}{2^n F_j C_j^n} \left| \frac{a_{n-j}}{a_n} \right| \right\}^{1/j} \end{aligned}$$

Here F_j being the Fibonacci's numbers, and C_j^n the binomial coefficients.

The following result of Kim [79], whose proof depends on the use of the identity

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} C_k^n = 2^n - 1 \tag{2.10}$$

also provides an annulus containing all the zeros of a polynomial.

Theorem 2.1.6. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ $(a_k \neq 0, 0 \le k \le n)$ be a nonconstant polynomial with complex coefficients. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $A = \{z : r_1 \le |z| \le r_2\}$, where

$$r_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C_k^n}{2^n - 1} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_k} \right| \right\}^{1/k}, \quad r_2 = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{2^n - 1}{C_k^n} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_n} \right| \right\}^{1/k}.$$
 (2.11)

Here again, as usual, C_k^n denote the binomial coefficients.

Theorem 2.0.13 of Cauchy has also been refined by Sun and Hsieh [118], who proved

Theorem 2.1.7. All the zeros of the polynomial $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$ lie in the disks

$$\{z: |z| < \eta\} \subset \{z: |z| < 1 + \delta_3\} \subseteq \{z: |z| < 1 + A\},\$$

where δ_3 is the unique positive root of the equation,

$$Q_3(x) \equiv x^3 + (2 - |a_{n-1}|)x^2 + (1 - |a_{n-1}| - |a_{n-2}|)x - A = 0, \qquad (2.12)$$

and

$$A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|.$$

Using the method similar to that of Sun and Hsieh [118], Jain [73] refined the above result of Sun and Hsieh [118], and proved

Theorem 2.1.8. All the zeros of the polynomial $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$ lie in the disks

 $\{z: |z| < \eta\} \subset \{z: |z| < 1 + \delta_4\} \subseteq \{z: |z| < 1 + \delta_3\} \subseteq \{z: |z| < 1 + A\},\$

where δ_4 is the unique positive root of the equation,

$$Q_4(x) \equiv x^4 + (3 - |a_{n-1}|) x^3 + (3 - 2|a_{n-1}| - |a_{n-2}|) x^2 + (1 - |a_{n-1}| - |a_{n-2}| - |a_{n-3}|) x - A = 0,$$
(2.13)

and $A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|$, is same as in Theorem 2.1.7.

In 2009, Affane-Aji, Agarwal, and Govil [2] proved the following result which not only includes the above results of Cauchy [24], Sun and Hsieh [118], and Jain [73] as special cases but also provides a tool for obtaining sharper bounds for the location of the zeros of a polynomial.

Theorem 2.1.9. All the zeros of the polynomial $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$ lie in the disks

$$\{z: |z| < 1 + \delta_k\} \subseteq \{z: |z| < 1 + \delta_{k-1}\} \cdots$$

 $\subseteq \{z : |z| < 1 + \delta_1\} \subseteq \{z : |z| < 1 + A\},\$

where δ_k is the unique positive root of the k^{th} degree equation

$$Q_k(x) \equiv x^k + \sum_{\nu=2}^k \left[C_{k-\nu}^{k-1} - \sum_{j=1}^{\nu-1} C_{k-\nu}^{k-j-1} |a_{n-j}| \right] x^{k+1-\nu} - A = 0.$$
 (2.14)

Here

$$A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|, \quad a_j = 0 \text{ if } j < 0,$$

and for k, a positive integer, C_k^m are the binomial coefficients.

As is easy to verify, for k = 1 the above theorem reduces to Theorem 2.0.13 due to Cauchy [24], for k = 3 to the result of Sun and Hsieh [118], and for k = 4 it reduces to the result due to Jain [73]. Further, by choosing k sufficiently large we can make δ_k in the bound to our desired accuracy.

Note that by combining the above Theorem 2.1.9 with Theorem 2.1.3 of Datt and Govil [28] one can easily obtain the following result, which is a refinement of the above Theorem 2.1.9.

Theorem 2.1.10. All the zeros of the polynomial $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$ lie in the annulus

$$\frac{|a_0|}{2(1+A)^{n-1}(nA+1)} \le |z| \le \{z : |z| < 1+\delta_k\} \subseteq \{z : |z| < 1+\delta_{k-1}\} \cdots$$
$$\subseteq \{z : |z| < 1+\delta_1\} \subseteq \{z : |z| < 1+A\},$$

where δ_k is as defined in Theorem 2.1.9, and $A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|$.

Similarly, one can obtain a refinement of Theorem 2.1.9 by combining Theorem 2.1.9 with Theorem 2.1.5 of Diaz-Barrero [40].

Later in 2010, Affane-Aji, Biaz, and Govil [3] proved the following refinement of Theorem 2.1.9, and constructed examples to show that for some polynomials their theorem, stated below, gives much better bounds than obtainable from Theorem 2.1.10. More precisely, their result is

Theorem 2.1.11. All the zeros of the polynomial $p(z) = z^n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_j z^j$ lie in the annulus

 $R_1 \le |z| \le \{z : |z| < 1 + \delta_k\} \subseteq \{z : |z| < 1 + \delta_{k-1}\} \cdots$

$$\subseteq \{z : |z| < 1 + \delta_1\} \subseteq \{z : |z| < 1 + A\},\$$

where δ_k is as defined in Theorem 2.1.9, and

$$R_1 = \frac{-R^2 |a_1| (M - |a_0|) + \sqrt{4R^2 M^3 |a_0| + \{R^2 |a_1| (M - |a_0|)\}^2}}{2M^2}.$$
 (2.15)

Here $M = \frac{R^{n+1} + (A-1)R^n - AR}{(R-1)}$ with $R = 1 + \delta_k$ and $A = \max_{0 \le j \le n-1} |a_j|$.

Note that $R = 1 + \delta_k > 1$, so for every positive integer k, we have M > 0 and R > 0. It is obvious that, in general, Theorem 2.1.11 sharpens Theorem 2.1.9.

In the same paper Affane-Aji, Biaz, and Govil [3] prove some more refinements of Theorem 2.1.9, which in some cases gives bounds that are sharper than obtainable from Theorems 2.1.3, 2.1.5, and 2.1.10. This they have shown by constructing some examples of polynomials.

The following two results by Diaz-Barrero and Egozcue [41], also provide annuli containing all the zeros of a polynomial.

Theorem 2.1.12. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k (a_k \neq 0, 1 \leq k \leq n)$ be a non-constant complex polynomial. Then for $j \geq 2$, all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_{1} = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C(n,k)A_{k}B_{j}^{k}(bB_{j-1})^{n-k}}{A_{jn}} \left| \frac{a_{0}}{a_{k}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.16)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{A_{jn}}{C(n,k)A_{k}B_{j}^{k}(bB_{j-1})^{n-k}} A_{jn} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}.$$
(2.17)

Here, $B_n = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} r^k s^{n-1-k}$ and $A_n = cr^n + ds^n$, where c, d are real constants and r,s are the roots of the equation $x^2 - ax - b = 0$ in which a,b are strictly positive real numbers. For $j \ge 2$, $\sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n,k)(bB_{j-1})^{n-k}B_j^kA_k = A_{jn}$. Furthermore, C(n,k) is the binomial coefficient.

Theorem 2.1.13. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k (a_k \neq 0, 1 \leq k \leq n)$ be a non-constant polynomial with complex coefficients. Then, all its zeros lie in the ring shaped region $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_{1} = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{2^{k} P_{k} C(n,k)}{P_{2n}} \left| \frac{a_{0}}{a_{k}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.18)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{P_{2n}}{2^{k} P_{k} C(n, k)} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}.$$
(2.19)

Here P_k is the k^{th} Pell number, namely, $P_0 = 0$, $P_1 = 1$ and for $k \ge 2$, $P_k = 2P_{k-1} + P_{k-2}$. Furthermore, $C(n,k) = \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!}$ are the binomial coefficients.

Recently, Dalal and Govil [26] unified the above results by proving the following which as special case includes several of the above results, namely : Theorems 2.1.4, 2.1.5, 2.1.6, 2.1.12, and 2.1.13.

Theorem 2.1.14. Let $A_k > 0$ for $1 \le k \le n$, and be such that $\sum_{k=1}^n A_k = 1$. If p(z) = n

 $\sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k (a_k \neq 0, 1 \le k \le n) \text{ is a non-constant polynomial with complex coefficients, then all the zeros of } p(z) \text{ lie in the annulus } C = \{z : r_1 \le |z| \le r_2\}, \text{ where}$

$$r_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ A_k \left| \frac{a_0}{a_k} \right| \right\}^{1/k} \tag{2.20}$$

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{1}{A_{k}} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}.$$
(2.21)

The above theorem, by appropriate choice of the numbers $A_k > 0$ for $1 \le k \le n$, includes as special case Theorems 2.1.4, 2.1.5, 2.1.6, 2.1.12 and 2.1.13, and this has been shown in the Table 1 in the paper of Dalal and Govil [26, p. 9612].

2.1.1 Statement of some New Results

In this section, by using Theorem 2.1.14 we obtain the following results stated below that provide annuli containing all the zeros of a polynomial. Also, we show, by means of examples, that for some polynomials our results sharpen some of the known results in this direction.

Our first result connects the n^{th} -Bell number, B_n , which counts the partitions of a set with n elements and the Stirling number (of the second kind) with parameters n and k, denoted by S(n,k), that enumerates the number of partitions of a set with n elements consisting k disjoint, nonempty sets. Here, B_n is defined recursively as: $B_0 = 1$, $B_{n+1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n,k)B_k$, for $n \ge 0$ and $S(n,k) = \frac{1}{k!}\sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^j C(k,j)(k-j)^n$.

Theorem 2.1.15. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ be a non-constant complex polynomial of degree n, with $a_k \neq 0$, $1 \leq k \leq n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{S(n,k)}{B_n} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_k} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$

$$(2.22)$$

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{B_{n}}{S(n,k)} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}.$$
 (2.23)

Theorem 2.1.16. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ be a non-constant complex polynomial of degree n, with $a_k \neq 0$, $1 \leq k \leq n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_{1} = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C(2n-k,k)C_{n-k}}{S_{n} - C_{n}} \left| \frac{a_{0}}{a_{k}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.24)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{S_{n} - C_{n}}{C(2n - k, k)C_{n-k}} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k},$$
(2.25)

where $C_n = \frac{C(2n,n)}{n+1}$ is the n^{th} -Catalan number and S_n the n^{th} -Schröder number given recursively by $S_0 = 1$, $S_n = S_{n-1} + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} S_j S_{n-1-j}$, for $n \ge 1$.

Theorem 2.1.17. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ be a non-constant complex polynomial of degree n, with $a_k \neq 0$, $1 \leq k \leq n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C(n,k)M_k}{C_{n+1} - 1} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_k} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.26)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C_{n+1} - 1}{C(n,k)M_{k}} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k},$$
(2.27)

where C_n is the same as in Theorem 2.1.16 and M_k is the k^{th} -Motzkin number defined recursively as

$$M_0 = M_1 = M_{-1} = 1; \quad M_{k+1} = \frac{2k+3}{k+3}M_k + \frac{3k}{k+3}M_{k-1}, \ k \ge 1.$$

Theorem 2.1.18. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ be a non-constant complex polynomial of degree n, with $a_k \neq 0$, $1 \leq k \leq n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C(n,k)^2}{C(2n,n) - 1} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_k} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.28)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{C(2n,n) - 1}{C(n,k)^{2}} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}.$$
(2.29)

Theorem 2.1.19. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ be a non-constant complex polynomial of degree n, with $a_k \neq 0$, $1 \leq k \leq n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$,

where

$$r_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{F_k}{F_{n+2} - 1} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_k} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.30)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{F_{n+2} - 1}{F_{k}} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k},$$
(2.31)

where F_n denotes the n^{th} -Fibonacci number.

Theorem 2.1.20. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ be a non-constant complex polynomial of degree n, with $a_k \neq 0$, $1 \leq k \leq n$. Then all the zeros of p(z) lie in the annulus $C = \{z : r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2\}$, where

$$r_{1} = \min_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{k \ C(n,k)}{n2^{n-1}} \left| \frac{a_{0}}{a_{k}} \right| \right\}^{1/k}$$
(2.32)

and

$$r_{2} = \max_{1 \le k \le n} \left\{ \frac{n2^{n-1}}{k \ C(n,k)} \left| \frac{a_{n-k}}{a_{n}} \right| \right\}^{1/k},$$
(2.33)

For the proofs of our results, we will need the following lemmas. For the proof of the first lemma, see [69].

Lemma 2.1.21. In combinatorics, it is known that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, B_n and S(n,k) are connected as follows:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} S(n,k) = B_n.$$

Lemma 2.1.22. If M_n is the n^{th} – Motzkin number and C_n the n^{th} – Catalan number, then for $n \ge 0$,

$$C_0 = 1; \quad \sum_{k=0}^n C(n,k)M_k = C_{n+1}.$$

For the proof of Lemma 2.1.22 see [16, p. 99] and [33].

Lemma 2.1.23. If S_n is the n^{th} -Schröder number, then for $n \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} C(2n-k,k)C_{n-k} = S_n.$$
See [32, p. 2782] for the proof Lemma 2.1.23.

Lemma 2.1.24. For $n \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n-k,k) = F_{n+1},$$

where F_n is the n^{th} -Fibonacci number.

Proof of Lemma 2.1.24 : For n = 0 and n = 1, we have that $F_1 = 1$ and $F_2 = 1 + 0 = 1$, respectively. Now , for $n \ge 2$, assume that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} C(n-1-k,k) = F_n, \text{ and } \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} C(n-2-k,k) = F_{n-1}.$$

So by the Pascal recursion,

$$C(n-k,k) = C(n-k-1,k-1) + C(n-k-1,k),$$

we have therefore (by the induction hypothesis, Fibonacci recursion, and C(n, k) = 0, when either k > n or k < 0.)

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n-k,k) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n-k-1,k-1) + \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n-k-1,k)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} C(n-k-1,k-1) + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} C(n-k-1,k)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} C(n-k-2,k) + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} C(n-k-1,k)$$
$$= F_{n-1} + F_n$$
$$= F_{n+1}.$$

Lemma 2.1.25. Let $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$, with $n \ge k$. Then k C(n, k) = n C(n - 1, k - 1).

Proof of Lemma 2.1.25:

$$k \ C(n,k) = k \frac{n!}{(n-k)!k!}$$

= $k \frac{n(n-1)!}{k(n-k)!(k-1)!}$
= $n \frac{(n-1)!}{(n-k)!(k-1)!}$
= $n \ C(n-1,k-1).$

Lemma 2.1.26. For $n \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k \ C(n,k) = n2^{n-1}.$$

Proof of Lemma 2.1.26: From Lemma 2.1.25 we obtain that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k \ C(n,k) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} n \ C(n-1,k-1)$$
$$= n \ \sum_{k=1}^{n} C(n-1,k-1)$$
$$= n \ \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} C(n-1,k)$$
$$= n2^{n-1}.$$

Lemma 2.1.27. Let n, m and r be nonnegative integers. Then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{r} C(m,k) \ C(n,r-k) = C(n+m,r).$$

_	_	

Proof of Lemma 2.1.27 : In general, the product of two polynomials with degrees m and n, respectively, is given by

$$\left(\sum_{i=0}^{m} a_i x^i\right) \left(\sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j x^j\right) = \sum_{r=0}^{m+n} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{r} a_k b_{r-k}\right) x^r;$$

where we use the convention that $a_i = 0$ for all integers i > m and $b_j = 0$ for all integers j > n. Note by the binomial theorem,

$$(1+x)^{m+n} = \sum_{r=0}^{m+n} C(m+n,r)x^r.$$

Using the binomial theorem also for the exponents m and n, and then the above formula for the product of polynomials, we obtain

$$\sum_{r=0}^{m+n} C(m+n,r)x^r = (1+x)^{m+n}$$

= $(1+x)^m (1+x)^n$
= $\left(\sum_{i=0}^m C(m,i)x^i\right) \left(\sum_{j=0}^n C(n,j)x^j\right)$
= $\sum_{r=0}^{m+n} \left(\sum_{k=0}^r C(m,k)C(n,r-k)\right)x^r$,

where the above convention for the coefficients of the polynomials agrees with the definition of the binomial coefficients, because both give zero for all i > m and j > n, respectively.

By comparing coefficients of x^r , the identity follows for all integers with $0 \le r \le m+n$. For larger integer r, both sides of the identity are zeros due to the definition of the binomial coefficients.

Lemma 2.1.28. Let $n \ge 0$. Then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n,k)^2 = C(2n,n).$$

The proof of Lemma 2.1.28 follows easily by setting m = r = n in Lemma 2.1.27.

Lemma 2.1.29. Let $n \geq 1$. Then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} F_k = F_{n+2} - 1$$

The proof of the above lemma follows by mathematical induction.

2.1.2 Proofs of Theorems

Proof of Theorem 2.1.15. From Lemma 2.1.21, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{S(n,k)}{B_n} = 1.$$

If we take $A_k = \frac{S(n,k)}{B_n}$, then $A_k > 0$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n A_k = 1$, and hence by applying Theorem 2.1.14 for this set of values of A_k we get our desired result.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.16. From Lemma 2.1.23, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{C(2n-k,k)C_{n-k}}{S_n - C_n} = 1.$$

If we take $A_k = \frac{C(2n-k,k)C_{n-k}}{S_n-C_n}$, then $A_k > 0$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n A_k = 1$, and hence by applying Theorem 2.1.14 for this set of values of A_k we get the required annulus and thus the proof of Theorem 2.1.16 is complete.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.17. From Lemma 2.1.22, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{C(n,k)M_k}{C_{n+1}-1} = 1.$$

If we take $A_k = \frac{C(n,k)M_k}{C_{n+1}-1}$, then $A_k > 0$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n A_k = 1$, and hence by applying Theorem 2.1.14 for this set of values of A_k we get the desired annulus, and thus the proof of Theorem 2.1.17 is complete.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.18. From Lemma 2.1.28, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{C(n,k)^2}{C(2n,n)-1} = 1$$

If we take $A_k = \frac{C(n,k)^2}{C(2n,n)-1}$, then $A_k > 0$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n A_k = 1$, and hence by applying Theorem 2.1.14 for this set of values of A_k we get the desired annulus given in Theorem 2.1.18.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.19. From Lemma 2.1.29, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{F_k}{F_{n+2} - 1} = 1.$$

If we take $A_k = \frac{F_k}{F_{n+2}-1}$, then $A_k > 0$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n A_k = 1$, and hence by applying Theorem 2.1.14 for this set of values of A_k we get the desired annulus given be the radii in Theorem 2.1.19.

We now give examples of polynomials for which our results can compare favorably with the already known theorems as stated above.

Example 2.1.30. Consider the polynomial $p(z) = z^3 + 0.1z^2 + 0.1z + 0.7$.

Theorems	r_1	r_2	Area of the annulus
2.1.5	0.6402	1.2312	3.4730
2.1.6	0.4641	1.6984	8.382
2.1.15	0.519249	1.51829	6.39502
2.1.17	0.59943	1.31521	4.305399
2.1.19	0.7047	1.1187	2.37155
2.1.20	0.55934	1.4095	5.25812

Table 2.1: Computational Analysis I

As one can observe from Table 2.1, our Theorem 2.1.19 is giving a significantly better bound than obtainable from the known Theorems 2.1.5 and 2.1.6. In fact, the area of the annulus containing all the zeros of the polynomial p(z) obtained by Theorem 2.1.19 is about 2.37155, which is about 68.29% of the area of the annulus obtained by Theorem 2.1.5 and about 28.29% of the area of the annulus obtained by Theorem 2.1.6.

Example 2.1.31. Consider the polynomial $p(z) = z^5 + 0.06z^4 + 0.29z^3 + 0.29z^2 + 0.29z + 0.001$.

Theorems	r_1	r_2	Area of the annulus
2.1.5	0.00012233	1.6912	8.986
2.1.6	0.00055617	1.158	4.2125
2.1.15	0.51925	1.51829	6.3950
2.1.17	0.000132	1.5720	7.76345
2.1.18	0.000343	1.3063	5.36063
2.1.20	0.0010776	1.07703	3.6442

Table 2.2: Computational Analysis II

It is clear from Table 2.2 that our Theorem 2.1.20 gives a better lower and upper bound for the polynomial p(z), hence, a smaller area of the annulus containing all the zeros of the polynomial p(z). Comparing the area obtained by Theorem 2.1.20, one observe that this area is about 40.55% of the area obtained by Theorem 2.1.5 and 86.51% of the area of the annulus obtained by Theorem 2.1.6.

2.2 Landau type results concerning Location of Zeros

2.2.1 Location of Zeros of Trinomials and Quadrinomials

Quite a few results giving bound for all the zeros of a polynomial $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ were expressed (see [87, 110]) as functions of all the coefficients. It seems natural to ask to find a circle of the smallest radius that contains atleast one zero of the polynomial. Landau first, raised this question in connection with his study of the Picard's Theorem. In [84] and [85], Landau proved that every trinomial

$$a_n z^n + a_1 z + a_0, \quad a_1 a_n \neq 0, \quad n \ge 2,$$

has at least one zero in

$$|z| \le 2 \left| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \right| \tag{2.34}$$

and every quadrinomial

$$a_n z^n + a_m z^m + a_1 z + a_0, \quad a_1 a_m a_n \neq 0, \quad 0 \le m < n,$$

has at least one zero in

$$|z| \le \frac{17}{3} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \right|. \tag{2.35}$$

For every $n \ge 2$, as a refinement of (2.34) the trinomial

$$a_n z^n + a_1 z + a_0, \quad a_1 a_n \neq 0,$$

is well known [46] to have a zero in both the regions

$$\left|z + \frac{a_0}{a_1}\right| \le \left|\frac{a_0}{a_1}\right|$$
 and $\left|z + \frac{a_0}{a_1}\right| \ge \left|\frac{a_0}{a_1}\right|.$ (2.36)

Joyal, Labelle and Rahman [75] gave an alternative proof of this fact by using Gauss-Lucas theorem. In literature, there exist several results about zeros distribution of trinomial equations, for example see [4] and [47]. In 2013, Aziz and Rather [12] proved certain results for quadrinomials and gave a simpler proof of (2.36), independent of Gauss-Lucas theorem. Here are their results

Theorem 2.2.1. At least one zero of the quadrinomial

$$a_n z^n + a_m z^m + a_1 z + a_0, \quad a_1 a_m a_n \neq 0, \quad 2 \le m < n,$$

 $lie\ in$

$$|z| \le \frac{2n}{n-1} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \right| \le 3 \left| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \right|. \tag{2.37}$$

Applying this result to the polynomial $z^n p(1/z)$ where $p(z) = a_0 + a_p z^p + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n$, they obtained the following:

Corollary 2.2.2. At least one zero of the quadrinomial

$$a_0 + a_p z^p + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n$$
, $a_0 a_p a_{n-1} \neq 0$, $1 \le p \le n-2$,

lie in

$$|z| \ge \frac{n-1}{2n} |a_{n-1}|. \tag{2.38}$$

Theorem 2.2.3. For every $n \ge 3$, the quadrinomial

$$a_n z^n + a_2 z^2 + a_1 z + a_0, \quad a_2 a_n \neq 0,$$

has at least one zero in both

$$|z| \le \left[\frac{n}{n-2} \left|\frac{a_0}{a_2}\right|\right]^{1/2} \tag{2.39}$$

and

$$\left|z + \frac{a_1}{2a_2}\right| \ge \left|\frac{a_1}{2a_2}\right|. \tag{2.40}$$

We now present some new results in this direction.

2.2.2 Statement of some New Results

Theorem 2.2.4. At least one zero of the polynomial

$$a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + a_m z^m + a_n z^n$$
, $a_n a_m a_2 a_1 \neq 0$, $3 \le m < n$,

lie in the circle

$$|z| \le \sqrt{\frac{nm}{(n-2)(m-2)}} \left|\frac{a_0}{a_2}\right|.$$

Theorem 2.2.5. At least one zero of the polynomial

$$a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + a_m z^m + a_n z^n$$
, $a_n a_m a_2 a_1 \neq 0$, $3 \le m < n$,

lie in the circle

$$|z| \le \frac{2nm}{(n-1)(m-1)} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \right|$$

2.2.3 Proofs of the Theorems

Proof of Theorem 2.2.4. If $a_0 = 0$, then nothing to prove. Suppose now that $a_0 \neq 0$, then write

$$S(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + a_m z^m + a_n z^n.$$

Suppose all the zeros of S(z) lie in

$$|z| > \sqrt{\frac{nm}{(n-2)(m-2)}} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_2} \right|.$$

Then all the zeros of

$$T(z) = z^{n}S(1/z) = a_{0}z^{n} + a_{1}z^{n-1} + a_{2}z^{n-2} + a_{m}z^{n-m} + a_{n}z^{n-m} +$$

lie in

$$|z| \le \sqrt{\frac{(n-2)(m-2)}{nm}} \Big| \frac{a_2}{a_0} \Big|.$$

By Gauss - Lucas theorem, all the zeros of the derived polynomial

$$T'(z) = a_0 n z^{n-1} + a_1 (n-1) z^{n-2} + a_2 (n-2) z^{n-3} + a_m (n-m) z^{n-m-1}$$

lie in

$$|z| \le \sqrt{\frac{(n-2)(m-2)}{nm}} \Big| \frac{a_2}{a_0} \Big|.$$

This shows that all the zeros of the polynomial

$$z^{n-1}T'(1/z) = a_m(n-m)z^m + a_2(n-2)z^2 + a_1(n-1)z + a_0n$$

lie in the region

$$|z| > \sqrt{\frac{nm}{(n-2)(m-2)}} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_2} \right|.$$

But this is a contradiction because by Theorem 2.2.3, $z^{n-1}T'(1/z)$ has at least one zero in

$$|z| \le \sqrt{\frac{nm}{(n-2)(m-2)}} \Big| \frac{a_0}{a_2} \Big|.$$

Thus, the polynomial S(z) has at least one zero in the prescribed circle.

Proof of Theorem 2.2.5. If $a_0 = 0$, then nothing to prove. Suppose now that $a_0 \neq 0$, and $S(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + a_m z^m + a_n z^n$, has all its zeros lying in

$$|z| > \frac{2nm}{(n-1)(m-1)} \Big| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \Big|.$$

Then all the zeros of

$$T(z) = z^{n}S(1/z) = a_{0}z^{n} + a_{1}z^{n-1} + a_{2}z^{n-2} + a_{m}z^{n-m} + a_{n}z^{n-m} +$$

lie in

$$|z| \le \frac{(n-1)(m-1)}{2nm} \Big| \frac{a_1}{a_0} \Big|.$$

By Gauss - Lucas theorem, all the zeros of the derived polynomial

$$T'(z) = a_0 n z^{n-1} + a_1 (n-1) z^{n-2} + a_2 (n-2) z^{n-3} + a_m (n-m) z^{n-m-1}$$

lie in

$$|z| \le \frac{(n-1)(m-1)}{2nm} \Big| \frac{a_1}{a_0} \Big|.$$

This shows that all the zeos of the polynomial

$$z^{n-1}T'(1/z) = a_m(n-m)z^m + a_2(n-2)z^2 + a_1(n-1)z + a_0n$$

lie in the region

$$|z| > \frac{2nm}{(n-1)(m-1)} \Big| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \Big|$$

But this is a contradiction because by Theorem 2.2.1, $z^{n-1}T'(1/z)$ has at least one zero in

$$|z| \le \frac{2nm}{(n-1)(m-1)} \Big| \frac{a_0}{a_1} \Big|.$$

We present here an example to illustrate the use of our result.

Example 2.2.6. Consider the polynomial

$$p(z) = z^5 - z^3 + 2z^2 - z + 1.$$

Here m = 3, and n = 5. Using Matlab, we obtain the zeros of p(z), namely: $z_1 = -1.6663$, $z_2 = 0.7908 + 0.6846i$, $z_3 = 0.7908 - 0.6846i$, $z_4 = 0.0424 + 0.7394i$, and $z_5 = 0.0424 - 0.7394i$ which lie in $0.7407 \le |z| \le 1.6663$ and at least one zero lie in $|z| \le 0.7407$. Now by Theorem 2.2.4, we see that at least one zero of the polynomial p(z) lie in the disk $|z| \le \sqrt{5/2}$. Also by Theorem 2.2.5, the disks $|z| \le 3.75$ contains at least one zero of the polynomial.

Chapter 3

Growth of Polynomials

3.1 Introduction

Several years after chemist Mendeleev invented the periodic table of elements he made a study of the specific gravity of a solution as a function of the percentage of the dissolved substance, and for this he needed an answer to the following question.

Question: If p(x) is a quadratic polynomial with real coefficients and $|p(x)| \le 1$ on $-1 \le x \le 1$, then how large can |p'(x)| be on $-1 \le x \le 1$?

To see how an answer to the above question of Mendeleev helped him in the solution of the problem in Chemistry he was interested in, we refer to the paper of Boas [21].

Note that, even though Mendeleev was a chemist, he was able to show that for a quadratic polynomial p(x) with real coefficients and $|p(x)| \leq 1$ on $-1 \leq x \leq 1$, then $|p'(x)| \leq 4$ for $-1 \leq x \leq 1$. This estimate is best possible in the sense that there is a quadratic polynomial $p(x) = 1 - 2x^2$ for which $|p(x)| \leq 1$ on [-1, 1] but $|p'(\pm 1)| = 4$. In the general case when p(x) is a polynomial of degree n with real coefficients the problem was solved by A. A. Markov [89], who proved the following result which is known as Markov's Theorem (see also Pinkus and de Boor [102]).

Theorem 3.1.1. Let $p(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j x^j$ be an algebraic polynomial of degree n such that $|p(x)| \leq 1$ for $x \in [-1, 1]$. Then

$$|p'(x)| \le n^2, \quad x \in [-1, 1]$$
(3.1)

The inequality is sharp. Equality holds only if $p(x) = \alpha T_n(x)$, where α is a complex number such that $|\alpha| = 1$, and

$$T_n(x) = \cos(n\cos^{-1}x) = 2^{n-1} \prod_{j=1}^n \left[x - \cos((j-\frac{1}{2})\pi/n)\right]$$

is the nth degree Tchebycheff polynomial of the first kind. It can be easily verified that $|T_n(x)| \leq 1$ for $x \in [-1, 1]$ and $|T'_n(1)| = n^2$.

It would be natural to go on and ask for an upper bound for $|p^{(k)}(x)|$ where $1 \le k \le n$. Iterating Markov's Theorem yields $|p^{(k)}(x)| \le n^{2k}L$ if $|p(x)| \le L$. However, this inequality is not sharp; the best possible inequality was found by Markov's brother, V. A. Markov [90], who proved the following

Theorem 3.1.2. Let $p(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j x^j$ be an algebraic polynomial of degree n with real coefficients such that $|p(x)| \le 1$ for $x \in [-1, 1]$. Then

$$|p^{(k)}(x)| \le \frac{(n^2 - 1^2)(n^2 - 2^2)\cdots(n^2 - (k - 1)^2)}{1 \cdot 3 \cdots (2k - 1)}, \qquad x \in [-1, 1].$$
(3.2)

The inequality is sharp, and the equality holds again only for $p(x) = T_n(x)$, where $T_n(x) = \cos(n\cos^{-1}x)$ is the Chebyschev polynomial of degree n.

Several years later, around 1926, Serge Bernstein needed the analogue of the above result Theorem 3.1.1 of A. A. Markov for polynomials in the complex domain and proved the following, which in the literature is known as Bernstein's Inequality.

Theorem 3.1.3. Let
$$p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$$
 be a complex polynomial of degree at most n . Then

$$\max_{|z|=1} |p'(z)| \le n \max_{|z|=1} |p(z)|.$$
(3.3)

The inequality is best possible and equality holds only for polynomials of the form $p(z) = \alpha z^n$, $\alpha \neq 0$ being a complex number.

The above theorem is, in fact, a special case of a more general result due to M. Riesz [112] for trigonometric polynomials.

For the sake of brevity, throughout in this chapter, we shall be using the following notations.

Definition 3.1.4. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a complex polynomial of degree at most n. We will denote

$$M(p,r) := \max_{|z|=r} |p(z)|, \ r > 0,$$
$$||p|| := \max_{|z|=1} |p(z)|,$$

and

$$D(0,K) := \{z : |z| < K\}, \ K > 0.$$

In 1945, S. Bernstein initiated and observed the following result, which in fact is a simple consequence of the maximum modulus principle (see [97] or [103, p. 137]). This inequality is also known as the Bernstein's inequality.

Theorem 3.1.5. Let
$$p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$$
 be a polynomial of degree n . Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \le R^n ||p||. \tag{3.4}$$

(3.5)

Equality holds for $p(z) = \alpha z^n$, α being a complex number.

If one applies the above inequality to the polynomial $P(z) = z^n p(1/z)$ and use maximum modulus principle, one easily gets

Theorem 3.1.6. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n. Then for $0 < r \le 1$, $M(p,r) \ge r^n ||p||.$

Equality holds for $p(z) = \alpha z^n$, α being a complex number.

The above result is due to Varga [122] who attributes it to E. H. Zarantonello.

By use of the transformation $P(z) = z^n p(1/z)$ and the maximum modulus principle it is not difficult to see that Theorem 3.1.5 and Theorem 3.1.6 can be obtained from each other. The fact that Theorem 3.1.3 can be obtained from Theorem 3.1.5 was proved by Bernstein himself. However, it was not known if Theorem 3.1.5 can also be obtained from Theorem 3.1.3, and this has been shown by Govil, Qazi and Rahman [67]. Thus all the above three Theorems 3.1.3, 3.1.5 and 3.1.6 are equivalent in the sense that anyone can be obtained from any of the others.

For the sharpening of Theorem 3.1.3, 3.1.5, and 3.1.6 we refer the reader to the paper of Frappier, Rahman and Ruscheweyh [48] (also, see Sharma and Singh [117]).

For polynomial of degree n not vanishing in the interior of the unit circle, Ankeny and Rivlin [8] proved the following result.

Theorem 3.1.7 (Ankeny and Rivlin [8]). Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$ in D(0,1). Then for $R \geq 1$,

$$M(p,R) \le \left(\frac{R^n + 1}{2}\right)||p||. \tag{3.6}$$

Here equality holds for $p(z) = \frac{\alpha + \beta z^n}{2}$, where $|\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$.

The analogue of Inequality (3.5) for polynomials not vanishing in the interior of a unit circle was proved later in 1960 by Rivlin [113], who in fact proved

Theorem 3.1.8 (Rivlin [113]). Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$ in D(0,1). Then for $0 < r \le 1$,

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{r+1}{2}\right)^n ||p||,\tag{3.7}$$

and equality holding for $p(z) = \left(\frac{\alpha + \beta z}{2}\right)^n$, where $|\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$.

The above results, Theorems 3.1.5 and 3.1.6 which are known as Bernstein inequalities concerning growth of polynomials, and Theorems 3.1.7 and 3.1.8 have been the starting

point of a considerable literature in Approximation Theory. Several books and research monographs have been written on this subject of inequalities (see for example Govil and Mohapatra [61], Milovanović, Mitrinović and Rassias [93], Pinkus and de Boor [102], Rahman and Schmeisser [110], and recent article of Govil and Nwaeze [63]).

In this chapter we study some of the developments that have, over a period, taken place around these inequalities and then present some new results in that direction. In particular, we present some generalizations, improvements and extensions of Theorems 3.1.7 and 3.1.8.

3.2 Some Improvements of Result due to Ankeny and Rivlin

We begin by presenting the brief outlines of the proof of Theorem 3.1.7 as given by Ankeny and Rivlin in [8], which makes use of Erdös-Lax theorem. As is well known, the Erdös-Lax theorem which is stated below as Lemma 3.2.1, was conjectured by Erdös and proved by Lax [86].

Lemma 3.2.1 (Lax [86]). Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$ in D(0,1). Then $M(p',1) \leq \frac{n}{2} ||p||.$ (3.8)

Proof of Theorem 3.1.7. Let us assume that p(z) does not have the form $\frac{\alpha + \beta z^n}{2}$. In view of Lemma 3.2.1

$$|p'(e^{i\theta})| \le \frac{n}{2} ||p||, \qquad 0 \le \theta < 2\pi,$$
(3.9)

from which we may deduce that

$$|p'(re^{i\theta})| < \frac{n}{2}r^{n-1}||p||, \qquad 0 \le \theta < 2\pi, \quad r > 1,$$
(3.10)

by applying Theorem 3.1.5 to the polynomial p'(z)/(n/2) and observing that we have the strict inequality in (3.10) because p(z) does not have the form $\frac{\alpha + \beta z^n}{2}$. But for each θ , $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$, we have

$$p(Re^{i\theta}) - p(e^{i\theta}) = \int_1^R e^{i\theta} p'(re^{i\theta}) dr.$$

Hence

$$\left| p(Re^{i\theta}) - p(e^{i\theta}) \right| \le \int_1^R |p'(re^{i\theta})| dr < \frac{n}{2} ||p|| \int_1^R r^{n-1} dr = \frac{||p||}{2} (R^n - 1),$$

and

$$|p(Re^{i\theta})| < \frac{||p||}{2}(R^n - 1) + |p(e^{i\theta})| \le \frac{||p||}{2}(1 + R^n).$$

Finally, if $p(z) = \frac{\alpha + \beta z^n}{2}$, $|\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$, then clearly

$$M(p,R) = \frac{1+R^n}{2}, \ R > 1,$$

and the proof of Theorem 3.1.7 is thus complete.

It may be remarked that later a simpler proof of Theorem 3.1.7 which does not make use of Erdös-Lax theorem was given by Dewan [36].

Remark 3.2.2. The converse of Theorem 3.1.7 is false as the simple example $p(z) = (z + \frac{1}{2})(z + 3)$ shows. However, the following result in the converse direction, which is also due to Ankeny and Rivlin [8], is valid.

Theorem 3.2.3. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree n such that p(1) = 1 and

$$M(p,R) \le \left(\frac{R^n + 1}{2}\right)||p||$$

for $0 < R - 1 < \delta$, where δ is any positive number. Then p(z) does not have all its zeros within the unit circle.

In 1989, Govil [57] observed that since the equality in (3.6) holds only for polynomials $p(z) = \alpha + \beta z^n$, $|\alpha| = |\beta|$, which satisfy

$$\left|\text{coefficient of } z^n\right| = \frac{1}{2} ||p||, \tag{3.11}$$

it should be possible to improve upon the bound in (3.6) for polynomials not satisfying (3.11), and therefore in this connection he proved the following refinement of (3.6).

Theorem 3.2.4. Let
$$p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$$
 in $D(0,1)$. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \leq \left(\frac{R^{n}+1}{2}\right)||p|| \qquad (3.12)$$
$$-\frac{n(||p||^{2}-4|a_{n}|^{2})}{2||p||} \left\{\frac{(R-1)||p||}{||p||+2|a_{n}|} - \ln\left[1 + \frac{(R-1)||p||}{||p||+2|a_{n}|}\right]\right\}$$

Equality holding for $p(z) = \alpha + \beta z^n$, where $|\alpha| = |\beta|$.

Since $x - \ln(1 + x) > 0$ for x > 0, the above theorem always gives a bound sharper than obtainable from Theorem 3.1.7 of Ankeny and Rivlin unless the polynomial satisfies Equation (3.11).

In 1998, Dewan and Bhat [38] sharpened the above Theorem 3.2.4 as follows

Theorem 3.2.5. Let
$$p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$$
 in $D(0,1)$. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \leq \left(\frac{R^{n}+1}{2}\right)||p|| - \left(\frac{R^{n}-1}{2}\right)m$$

$$-\frac{n}{2}\left[\frac{(||p||-m)^{2}-4|a_{n}|^{2}}{(||p||-m)}\right] \quad \left\{\frac{(R-1)(||p||-m)}{(||p||-m)+2|a_{n}|} - \ln\left[1 + \frac{(R-1)(||p||-m)}{(||p||-m)+2|a_{n}|}\right]\right\},$$
(3.13)

where $m = \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)|$. Here again, equality holds for $p(z) = \alpha + \beta z^n$, where $|\alpha| = |\beta|$.

In 2001, Govil and Nyuydinkong [64] generalized Theorem 3.2.5, where they considered polynomials not vanishing in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. More specifically, they proved **Theorem 3.2.6.** Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$ in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \leq \left(\frac{R^{n}+K}{1+K}\right)||p|| - \left(\frac{R^{n}-1}{1+K}\right)m - \frac{n}{1+K}\left[\frac{(||p||-m)^{2} - (1+K)^{2}|a_{n}|^{2}}{(||p||-m)}\right] \quad (3.14)$$
$$\times \left\{\frac{(R-1)(||p||-m)}{(||p||-m) + (1+K)|a_{n}|} - \ln\left[1 + \frac{(R-1)(||p||-m)}{(||p||-m) + (1+K)|a_{n}|}\right]\right\},$$

where $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$.

Later, Gardner, Govil and Weems [51] generalized Theorem 3.2.6 by considering polynomials of the form $a_0 + \sum_{j=t}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le t \le n$, and for this, they proved the following

Theorem 3.2.7. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=t}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le t \le n$, be a polynomial of degree n and $p(z) \ne 0$ in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \leq \left(\frac{R^{n} + K^{t}}{1 + K^{t}}\right)||p|| - \left(\frac{R^{n} - 1}{1 + K^{t}}\right)m - \frac{n}{1 + K^{t}}\left[\frac{(||p|| - m)^{2} - (1 + K^{t})^{2}|a_{n}|^{2}}{(||p|| - m)}\right] (3.15)$$
$$\times \left\{\frac{(R - 1)(||p|| - m)}{(||p|| - m) + (1 + K^{t})|a_{n}|} - \ln\left[1 + \frac{(R - 1)(||p|| - m)}{(||p|| - m) + (1 + K^{t})|a_{n}|}\right]\right\},$$

where $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$.

Clearly, for t = 1, Theorem 3.2.7 gives Theorem 3.2.6, which for K = 1 reduces to Theorem 3.2.5.

In 2005, Gardner, Govil and Musukula [52] proved the following generalization and sharpening of Theorem 3.2.4.

Theorem 3.2.8. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=t}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le t \le n$, be a polynomial of degree n and $p(z) \ne 0$ in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \leq \left(\frac{R^{n} + s_{0}}{1 + s_{0}}\right)||p|| - \left(\frac{R^{n} - 1}{1 + s_{0}}\right)m - \frac{n}{1 + s_{0}}\left[\frac{(||p|| - m)^{2} - (1 + s_{0})^{2}|a_{n}|^{2}}{(||p|| - m)}\right] \quad (3.16)$$
$$\times \left\{\frac{(R - 1)(||p|| - m)}{(||p|| - m) + (1 + s_{0})|a_{n}|} - \ln\left[1 + \frac{(R - 1)(||p|| - m)}{(||p|| - m) + (1 + s_{0})|a_{n}|}\right]\right\},$$

where $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$, and

$$s_0 = K^{t+1} \frac{\frac{t}{n} \cdot \frac{|a_t|}{|a_0| - m} K^{t-1} + 1}{\frac{t}{n} \cdot \frac{|a_t|}{|a_0| - m} K^{t+1} + 1}$$

Dividing both sides of (3.16) by \mathbb{R}^n , and letting $\mathbb{R} \to \infty$, one gets

Corollary 3.2.9. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=t}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le t \le n$, be a polynomial of degree n and $p(z) \ne 0$ in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. Then

$$|a_n| \le \frac{1}{1+s_0} (||p|| - m), \tag{3.17}$$

where $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$.

In case one does not have knowledge of $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$, one could use the following result due to Gardner, Govil and Musukula [52] which does not depend on m.

Theorem 3.2.10. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=t}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le t \le n$, be a polynomial of degree n and $p(z) \ne 0$ in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \leq \left(\frac{R^{n} + s_{1}}{1 + s_{1}}\right)||p|| - \frac{n}{1 + s_{1}} \left[\frac{||p||^{2} - (1 + s_{1})^{2}|a_{n}|^{2}}{||p||}\right]$$

$$\times \left\{\frac{(R - 1)||p||}{||p|| + (1 + s_{1})|a_{n}|} - \ln\left[1 + \frac{(R - 1)||p||}{||p|| + (1 + s_{1})|a_{n}|}\right]\right\},$$
(3.18)

where

$$s_1 = K^{t+1} \frac{\frac{t}{n} \cdot \frac{|a_t|}{|a_0|} K^{t-1} + 1}{\frac{t}{n} \cdot \frac{|a_t|}{|a_0|} K^{t+1} + 1}$$

If in the above theorem, one divides both sides of (3.18) by \mathbb{R}^n and let $\mathbb{R} \to \infty$, one obtains the following

Corollary 3.2.11. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=t}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le t \le n$, be a polynomial of degree n and $p(z) \ne 0$ in D(0, K), $K \ge 1$. Then

$$|a_n| \le \frac{1}{1+s_1} ||p||. \tag{3.19}$$

Both Corollaries 3.2.9 and 3.2.11 generalize and sharpen the well known inequality, obtainable by an application of Visser's Inequality [123], that if $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ is a polynomial of degree n and $p(z) \neq 0$ in D(0, 1) then $|a_n| \leq \frac{1}{2} ||p||$.

We present some of the examples Gardner, Govil and Musukula [52] gave to illustrate the quality of Theorems 3.2.7, 3.2.8 and 3.2.10.

Example 3.2.12. Let $p(z) = 1000 + z^2 + z^3 + z^4$. Clearly, here t = 2 and n = 4, and one can take K = 5.4, since numerically $p \neq 0$ for |z| < 5.4483. For this polynomial, the bound for M(p, 2) by Theorem 3.2.7 comes out to be 1447.503, and by Theorem 3.2.8, it comes out to be 1101.84, which is a significant improvement over the bound obtained from Theorem 3.2.7. Numerically, for this polynomial $M(p, 2) \approx 1028$, which is quite close to the bound 1101.84, that is obtainable by Theorem 3.2.10. The bound for M(p, 2) obtained by Theorem 3.2.10 is 1105.05, which is also quite close to the actual bound ≈ 1028 . However, in this case Theorem 3.2.8 gives the best bound.

Example 3.2.13. Let $p(z) = 1000 + z^2 - z^3 - z^4$. Here also, t = 2 and n = 4. Again, numerically $p(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < 5.43003, and thus take K = 5.4. If R = 3, then for this polynomial the bound for M(p,3) obtained by Theorem 3.2.7 comes out to be 3479.408, while by Theorem 3.2.10 it comes out to be 1545.3, and by Theorem 3.2.8 it comes out

to be 1534.5, a considerable improvement. Thus again the bounds obtained from Theorem 3.2.8 and Theorem 3.2.10 are considerably smaller than the bound obtained from Theorem 3.2.7, and the bound 1534.5 obtained by Theorem 3.2.8 is much closer to the actual bound $M(p,3) \approx 1100.6$, than the bound 3479.408, obtained from Theorem 3.2.7.

While trying to obtain inequality analogous to (3.6) for polynomials not vanishing in $D(0, K), K \leq 1$, Dewan and Ahuja [37] were able to prove this only for polynomials having all the zeros on the circle $S(0, K) := \{z : |z| = K\}, 0 < K \leq 1$.

Theorem 3.2.14. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree *n* having all its zeros on $S(0, K), K \leq 1$. Then for $R \geq 1$ and for every positive integer *s*,

$$\{M(p,R)\}^{s} \leq \left[\frac{K^{n-1}(1+K) + (R^{ns}-1)}{K^{n-1} + K^{n}}\right] \{M(p,1)\}^{s}.$$
(3.20)

For s = 1, the Theorem 3.2.14 yields

Corollary 3.2.15. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree *n* having all its zeros on $S(0, K), K \leq 1$. Then for $R \geq 1$,

$$M(p,R) \le \left[\frac{K^{n-1}(1+K) + (R^n - 1)}{K^{n-1} + K^n}\right] M(p,1).$$
(3.21)

In same spirit, we prove the following results

3.2.1 Statement and Proof of some New Results

In this subsection, we present some new results that sharpen the aforementioned results.

Theorem 3.2.16. Let $p(z) = z^m \left[a_{n-m} z^{n-m} + \sum_{j=\mu}^{n-m} a_{n-m-j} z^{n-m-j} \right], 1 \le \mu \le n-m, 0 \le m \le n-1$, be a polynomial of degree n, having m - fold zeros at origin and remaining n-m zeros on $S(0, K), K \le 1$. Then for every integer s

$$[M(p,R)]^{s} \le L(\mu; K, m, n, s)[M(p,1)]^{s}, \quad R \ge 1$$
(3.22)

where

$$L(\mu; K, m, n, s) = \frac{n(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}) + (R^{ns} - 1)[n + mK^{n-m-2\mu+1} + mK^{n-m-\mu+1} - m]}{n(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1})}$$

For m = 0, we have

Corollary 3.2.17. Let $p(z) = a_n z^n + \sum_{j=\mu}^n a_{n-j} z^{n-j}$, $1 \le \mu \le n$, be a polynomial of degree n, having all zeros on |z| = K, $K \le 1$. Then for every integer s

$$[M(p,R)]^{s} \le L(\mu; K, n, s)[M(p,1)]^{s}, \quad R \ge 1$$
(3.23)

where

$$L(\mu; K, n, s) = \frac{K^{n-\mu}(K^{1-\mu} + K) + (R^{ns} - 1)}{K^{n-2\mu+1} + K^{n-\mu+1}}$$

If we set $\mu = 1$ into Corollary 3.2.17, we get the following result of Dewan and Ahuja [37].

Corollary 3.2.18. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$, be a polynomial of degree *n*, having all zeros on $|z| = K, K \leq 1$. Then for every integer *s*,

$$[M(p,R)]^s \le L(1;K,n,s)[M(p,1)]^s, \quad R \ge 1$$
(3.24)

where

$$L(1; K, n, s) = \frac{K^{n-1}(1+K) + (R^{ns} - 1)}{K^{n-1} + K^n}$$

For the proof Theorem 3.2.16 we need the following lemmas. The first lemma is due to Kumar and Lal [82].

Lemma 3.2.19. Let $p(z) = z^m \left[a_{n-m} z^{n-m} + \sum_{j=\mu}^{n-m} a_{n-m-j} z^{n-m-j} \right], 1 \le \mu \le n-m, 0 \le m \le n-1$, be a polynomial of degree n, having m - fold zeros at origin and remaining n-m

zeros on $|z| = K, K \leq 1$.

$$\max_{|z|=1} |p'(z)| \le \frac{n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1)}{K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}} \max_{|z|=1} |p(z)|$$
(3.25)

The next lemma is the Bernstein inequality given in Theorem 3.1.5.

Lemma 3.2.20. Let p(z) be a polynomial of degree n. Then for $R \ge 1$,

$$M(p,R) \le R^n M(p,1). \tag{3.26}$$

Proof of Theorem 3.2.16. By Lemma 3.2.19, we have

$$\max_{|z|=1} |p'(z)| \le \frac{n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1)}{K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}} \max_{|z|=1} |p(z)|$$

Applying Lemma 3.2.20 to the polynomial p'(z) which is of degree n-1, it follows that for all $R \ge 1$ and $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$,

$$\begin{aligned} |p'(Re^{i\theta})| &\leq \max_{|z|=R} |p'(z)| \\ &\leq R^{n-1} \max_{|z|=1} |p'(z)| \\ &\leq R^{n-1} \left[\frac{n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1)}{K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}} \right] \max_{|z|=1} |p(z)|. \end{aligned}$$

So for each $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ and $R \ge 1$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[p(Re^{i\theta})\right]^s &- \left[p(e^{i\theta})\right]^s = \int_1^R \frac{d\left[p(te^{i\theta})\right]^s}{dt} dt \\ &= \int_1^R s\left[p(te^{i\theta})\right]^{s-1} p'(te^{i\theta}) e^{i\theta} dt. \end{split}$$

This implies that

$$\left| p(Re^{i\theta}) \right|^s \le \left| p(e^{i\theta}) \right|^s + s \int_1^R \left| p(te^{i\theta}) \right|^{s-1} \left| p'(te^{i\theta}) \right| dt.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \left[M(p,R) \right]^s &\leq \left[M(p,1) \right]^s + s \int_1^R \left[t^n M(p,1) \right]^{s-1} \left| p'(te^{i\theta}) \right| dt \\ &\leq \left[M(p,1) \right]^s + s \int_1^R t^{ns-n} \left[M(p,1) \right]^{s-1} t^{n-1} \cdot \frac{n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1)}{K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}} M(p.1) dt \\ &= \left[M(p,1) \right]^s + s \left[\frac{n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1)}{K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}} \right] \left[M(p,1) \right]^s \int_1^R t^{ns-1} dt \\ &= \left[M(p,1) \right]^s + \left[M(p,1) \right]^s \left[\frac{n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1)}{K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1}} \right] s \cdot \frac{R^{ns} - 1}{ns} \\ &= \left[M(p,1) \right]^s \left[1 + \frac{\left[n + m(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1} - 1) \right] (R^{ns} - 1)}{n(K^{n-m-2\mu+1} + K^{n-m-\mu+1})} \right] \end{split}$$

This yields

$$\left[M(p,R)\right]^{s} \leq \left[M(p,1)\right]^{s} \left[\frac{n\left(K^{n-m-2\mu+1}+K^{n-m-\mu+1}\right) + \left[n+m\left(K^{n-m-2\mu+1}+K^{n-m-\mu+1}-1\right)\right]\left(R^{ns}-1\right)}{n\left(K^{n-m-2\mu+1}+K^{n-m-\mu+1}\right)}\right]$$

This completes the proof.

3.3 Some Improvements of a Result due to Rivlin

So far we have been dealing with improvements and generalizations of Inequality (3.6), we now turn our attention to Inequality (3.7), given in Theorem 3.1.8. In this regard, Govil [56] generalized this Theorem 3.1.8 by proving **Theorem 3.3.1.** Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$ in D(0,1). Then for $0 < r \le \rho \le 1$, $M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{1+r}{1+\rho}\right)^n M(p,\rho).$ (3.27)

The result is best possible and equality holds for the polynomial $p(z) = \left(\frac{1+z}{1+\rho}\right)^n$.

If polynomial p(z) has all its zeros on |z| = 1, the polynomial $q(z) = z^n p(\frac{1}{z})$ also has its zeros on |z| = 1. Further, if $1 \le \rho \le r$, then $\frac{1}{r} \le \frac{1}{\rho} \le 1$, and when (3.27) is applied to q(z), it yields

$$M\left(q,\frac{1}{r}\right) \ge \left(\frac{1+\frac{1}{r}}{1+\frac{1}{\rho}}\right)^n M\left(q,\frac{1}{\rho}\right),$$

which is equivalent to (3.27).

The above explanation thus leads to the following corollary.

Corollary 3.3.2. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$ be a polynomial of degree *n* having all its zeros on the unit circle. Then for $0 < r \le \rho \le 1$, and for $1 \le \rho \le r$,

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{1+r}{1+\rho}\right)^n M(p,\rho). \tag{3.28}$$

The result is best possible and equality holds for the polynomial $p(z) = (1+z)^n$.

If in Theorem 3.3.1 one also assumes that p'(0) = 0, the bound in (3.27) can be considerably improved. Govil [56] in the same paper obtained the following in this direction.

Theorem 3.3.3. Let
$$p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$$
 in $D(0,1)$. Let $p'(0) = 0$. Then for $0 < r \le \rho \le 1$,

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{1+r}{1+\rho}\right)^n \left\{ \frac{1}{1-\frac{(1-\rho)(\rho-r)n}{4} \left(\frac{1+r}{1+\rho}\right)^{n-1}} \right\} M(p,\rho).$$
(3.29)

Theorem 3.3.1 is best possible, however, if $0 < r < \rho < 1$, then for any polynomial p(z) having no zeros in D(0, 1), and p'(0) = 0, the bound obtained by Theorem 3.3.3 can be considerably sharper than the bound obtained by Theorem 3.3.1. Govil [56] illustrated this by means of the following examples.

Example 3.3.4. Let $p(z) = 1 + z^3$, $\rho = 0.5$, r = 0.1. Theorem 3.3.1 gives $M(p,r) \ge (0.3943704)M(p,\rho)$, while by Theorem 3.3.3, $M(p,r) \ge (0.4289743)M(p,\rho)$.

Example 3.3.5. Let $p(z) = 1 + z^7$, $\rho = 0.168$, r = 0.022. Theorem 3.3.1 gives $M(p, r) \ge (0.3926959)M(p, \rho)$, while by Theorem 3.3.3, $M(p, r) \ge (0.4341115)M(p, \rho)$.

In this section we present some further extension and sharpening of Rivlin's result. In this regard, we have the following

3.3.1 More New Results

As generalization and sharpening of Rivlin's result, we state the following

Theorem 3.3.6. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=\mu}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le \mu < n$. If $p(z) \ne 0$ for |z| < 1, then for 0 < r < 1, we have

$$M(p,r) \ge \frac{(1+r)^{n/\mu}}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu} + \mu 2^{n/\mu} - \mu (1+r)^{n/\mu}} \Big[M(p,1) + n\min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r}\right) \Big].$$
(3.30)

As a consequence of the above theorem, if $p(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < K, K > 0, then the polynomial $P(z) = p(Kz) \neq 0$ for |z| < 1. Further, if 0 < r < K, then 0 < r/K < 1, and applying Theorem 3.3.6 to P(z), we get

$$M(P, r/K) \ge \frac{(1+r/K)^{n/\mu}}{(1+(r/K)^{\mu})^{n/\mu} + \mu 2^{n/\mu} - \mu (1+r/K)^{n/\mu}} \Big[M(P, 1) + n \min_{|z|=1} |P(z)| \ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r/K}\right) \Big]$$

which yields

$$M(p,r) \ge \frac{\gamma^{1/\mu}(r+K)^{n/\mu}}{\gamma(r^{\mu}+K^{\mu})^{n/\mu}+\mu 2^{n/\mu}-\mu \gamma^{1/\mu}(r+K)^{n/\mu}} \Big[M(p,K) + nm \ln\left(\frac{2K}{r+K}\right) \Big], \quad (3.31)$$

where $\gamma = K^{-n}$, and $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$.

Theorem 3.3.7. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$. If $p(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < K, $K \ge 1$, then for $0 < r < R \le 1$, we have

i, at nut

$$M(p,r) \ge \frac{(1+r)^n}{(1+r)^n + (R+K)^n - (r+K)^n} \Big[M(p,R) + nm \ln\left(\frac{R+K}{r+K}\right) \Big],$$
(3.32)

where $m = \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)|$.

If R = 1, Theorem 3.3.7 reduces to

Corollary 3.3.8. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$. If $p(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < K, $K \ge 1$, then for 0 < r < 1, we have

$$M(p,r) \ge \frac{(1+r)^n}{(1+r)^n + (1+K)^n - (r+K)^n} \Big[M(p,1) + n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{1+K}{r+K}\right) \Big].$$
(3.33)

Setting K = 1 in Corollary 3.3.8 gives

Corollary 3.3.9. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$. If $p(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < 1, then for 0 < r < 1, we have

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{1+r}{2}\right)^n \left[M(p,1) + \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r}\right)\right].$$
(3.34)

Unless $\min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| = 0$, Corollary 3.3.9 always gives a bound sharper than the bound obtainable from Theorem 3.1.8 of the result due to Rivlin [113] which states that if $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j \neq 0$ in D(0,1), then for $0 < r \le 1$, $M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{r+1}{2}\right)^n ||p||$.

For the proof of Theorems 3.3.6 and 3.3.7, we need the following lemmas. The first lemma is due to Govil [58].

Lemma 3.3.10. Let p(z) be a polynomial of degree n having no zeros in $|z| < K, K \ge 1$, then

$$\max_{|z|=1} |p'(z)| \le \frac{n}{1+K} \Big[\max_{|z|=1} |p(z)| - \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \Big].$$
(3.35)

Lemma 3.3.11 (Qazi [108]). Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=\mu}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le \mu < n$. If $p(z) \ne 0$ for |z| < 1, then for $0 < r < R \le 1$, we have,

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{1+r^{\mu}}{1+R^{\mu}}\right)^{n/\mu} M(p,R);$$
 (3.36)

more precisely,

$$M(p,r) \ge \exp\left(-n\int_{r}^{R} \frac{t^{\mu} + (\mu/n)|a_{\mu}/a_{0}|t^{\mu-1}}{t^{\mu+1} + (\mu/n)|a_{\mu}/a_{0}|(t^{\mu}+t)+1}dt\right)M(p,R).$$
(3.37)

Recently, Jain [71] (see also Govil and Qazi [66]) proved the following generalization of Lemma 3.3.11.

Lemma 3.3.12. Let $p(z) = a_0 + \sum_{j=\mu}^n a_j z^j$, $1 \le \mu < n$. If $p(z) \ne 0$ for |z| < K, K > 0 then for $0 < r < R \le K$, we have,

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{r^{\mu} + K^{\mu}}{R^{\mu} + K^{\mu}}\right)^{n/\mu} M(p,R);$$
(3.38)

more precisely,

$$M(p,r) \ge \exp\left(-n\int_{r}^{R} \frac{t^{\mu} + (\mu/n)|a_{\mu}/a_{0}|K^{\mu+1}t^{\mu-1}}{t^{\mu+1} + K^{\mu+1} + (\mu/n)|a_{\mu}/a_{0}|(K^{\mu+1}t^{\mu} + K^{2\mu}t)}dt\right)M(p,R).$$
 (3.39)

It is important to note that if $0 \neq p(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_{n-\mu} z^{n-\mu} + a_n z^n$, $1 \leq \mu < n$ for $|z| \geq K$, K > 0, then $0 \neq q(z) = z^n p(1/z) = a_n + a_{n-\mu} z^{n-\mu} + a_{n-\mu-1} z^{\mu+1} + \dots + a_0 z^n$ in |z| < K, K > 0. Furthermore, if we assume that $K \leq r < R$ then we have that $1/R < 1/r \leq 1/K.$ Applying Inequality (3.38) of Lemma 3.3.12, to polynomial q(z) we obtain

$$M(q, 1/R) \ge \left(\frac{R^{-\mu} + K^{-\mu}}{r^{-\mu} + K^{-\mu}}\right)^{n/\mu} M(q, 1/r);$$

this implies that

$$M(p,R) \ge \left(\frac{R^{\mu} + K^{\mu}}{r^{\mu} + K^{\mu}}\right)^{n/\mu} M(p,r).$$

Putting $\mu = 1$ in Lemma 3.3.12, one obtains the following

Lemma 3.3.13. Let $p(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j$. If $p(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < K, K > 0 then for $0 < r < R \le K$,

$$M(p,r) \ge \left(\frac{r^2 + 2\lambda r + K^2}{R^2 + 2\lambda R + K^2}\right)^{n/2} M(p,R),$$
(3.40)

where $\lambda := \frac{K^2}{n} \Big| \frac{a_1}{a_0} \Big|.$

Applying the above lemma to the polynomial $q(z) = z^n p(1/z)$ with $K \le r < R$, where $p(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + a_n z^n$ has all its zeros in |z| < K, K > 0, we get that q(z) has no zeros in |z| < K, K > 0, and

$$M(q, 1/R) \ge \left(\frac{R^{-2} + 2\lambda R^{-1} + K^{-2}}{r^{-2} + 2\lambda r^{-1} + K^{-2}}\right)^{n/2} M(q, 1/r);$$

this implies

$$M(p,R) \ge \left(\frac{R^2 + 2\lambda RK^2 + K^2}{r^2 + 2\lambda rK^2 + K^2}\right)^{n/2} M(p,r).$$

Proof of Theorem 3.3.6. Let 0 < r < 1. Let $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ we have:

$$\left| p(e^{i\theta}) - p(re^{i\theta}) \right| = \left| \int_{r}^{1} e^{i\theta} p'(te^{i\theta}) dt \right|.$$

This implies

$$\left|p(e^{i\theta})\right| \le \left|p(re^{i\theta})\right| + \left|\int_{r}^{1} e^{i\theta} p'(te^{i\theta}) dt\right|.$$
(3.41)

If $p(z) \neq 0$ in |z| < 1, then $p(tz) \neq 0$ in |z| < 1/t. Further, if $0 < t \le 1$, then $1/t \ge 1$ and hence by Lemma 3.3.10 we get

$$t|p'(tz)| \le \frac{nt}{1+t} \Big[M(p,t) - \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \Big]$$

which is equivalent to

$$|p'(tz)| \le \frac{n}{1+t} \Big[M(p,t) - \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \Big].$$
(3.42)

Combining (3.41) and (3.42) yield

$$\left| p(e^{i\theta}) \right| \le \left| p(re^{i\theta}) \right| + \int_{r}^{1} \frac{n}{1+t} M(p,t) dt - n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \int_{r}^{1} \frac{1}{1+t} dt.$$

This implies

$$M(p,1) \le M(p,r) + \int_{r}^{1} \frac{n}{1+t} M(p,t) dt - n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \int_{r}^{1} \frac{1}{1+t} dt.$$

Now by Lemma 3.3.11, we obtain

$$M(p,1) \le M(p,r) + \int_{r}^{1} \frac{n}{1+t} \left(\frac{1+t^{\mu}}{1+r^{\mu}}\right)^{n/\mu} M(p,r)dt - n\min_{|z|=1}|p(z)| \int_{r}^{1} \frac{1}{1+t}dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,1) \le M(p,r) + \int_r^1 \frac{n}{1+t} \left(\frac{1+t}{1+r^{\mu}}\right)^{n/\mu} M(p,r) dt - n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \int_r^1 \frac{1}{1+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,1) \le M(p,r) + \frac{nM(p,r)}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}} \int_{r}^{1} \frac{(1+t)^{n/\mu}}{1+t} dt - n\min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \int_{r}^{1} \frac{1}{1+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,1) \le M(p,r) + \frac{nM(p,r)}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}} \Big[2^{n/\mu} - (1+r)^{n/\mu} \Big] \frac{\mu}{n} - n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \int_{r}^{1} \frac{1}{1+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,1) \le M(p,r) + \frac{\mu M(p,r)}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}} \Big[2^{n/\mu} - (1+r)^{n/\mu} \Big] - n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r}\right)$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,r) \left[1 + \frac{\mu 2^{n/\mu}}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}} - \frac{\mu (1+r)^{n/\mu}}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}} \right] \ge M(p,1) + n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r}\right)$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,r)\left[\frac{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}+\mu 2^{n/\mu}-\mu (1+r)^{n/\mu}}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}}\right] \ge M(p,1)+n\min_{|z|=1}|p(z)|\ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r}\right)$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,r) \ge \frac{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu}}{(1+r^{\mu})^{n/\mu} + \mu 2^{n/\mu} - \mu (1+r)^{n/\mu}} \Bigg[M(p,1) + n \min_{|z|=1} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{2}{1+r}\right) \Bigg].$$

That proves the theorem.

Proof of Theorem 3.3.7. As in the proof of Theorem 3.3.6, we obtain similarly that

$$\left| p(Re^{i\theta}) \right| \le \left| p(re^{i\theta}) \right| + \left| \int_{r}^{R} e^{i\theta} p'(te^{i\theta}) dt \right|.$$
(3.43)

Now if $p(z) \neq 0$ in |z| < K, $K \ge 1$, then $p(tz) \neq 0$ in |z| < K/t. Further, if $0 < t \le 1$, then $1/t \ge 1$ and $K/t \ge 1$.

By Lemma 3.3.10, we get

$$|p'(tz)| \le \frac{n}{K+t} \Big[M(p,t) - \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \Big].$$
(3.44)

Using (3.43) and (3.44) give

$$\left| p(Re^{i\theta}) \right| \le \left| p(re^{i\theta}) \right| + \int_r^R \frac{n}{K+t} M(p,t) dt - n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \int_r^R \frac{1}{K+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,R) \le M(p,r) + \int_r^R \frac{n}{K+t} M(p,t) dt - n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \int_r^R \frac{1}{K+t} dt.$$

By Lemma 3.3.11, we obtain

$$M(p,R) \le M(p,r) + \int_{r}^{R} \frac{n}{K+t} \left(\frac{1+t}{1+r}\right)^{n} M(p,r) dt - n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \int_{r}^{R} \frac{1}{K+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,R) \le M(p,r) + \frac{nM(p,r)}{(1+r)^n} \int_r^R \frac{(1+t)^n}{K+t} dt - n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \int_r^R \frac{1}{K+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,R) \le M(p,r) + \frac{nM(p,r)}{(1+r)^n} \int_r^R \frac{(K+t)^n}{K+t} dt - n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \int_r^R \frac{1}{K+t} dt$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,R) \le M(p,r) + \frac{nM(p,r)}{(1+r)^n} \Big[(K+R)^n - (K+r)^n \Big] \frac{1}{n} - n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{K+R}{K+r}\right)^{-1} \Big] \frac{1}{n} - n \max_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{K+R}{K+r}\right)^{-1} + n \max_{|z|=K} |p(z)| + n$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,r) \left[\frac{(1+r)^n + (K+R)^n - (K+r)^n}{(1+r)^n} \right] \ge M(p,R) + n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{K+R}{K+r}\right)$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad M(p,r) \ge \frac{(1+r)^n}{(1+r)^n + (K+R)^n - (K+r)^n} \Bigg[M(p,R) + n \min_{|z|=K} |p(z)| \ln\left(\frac{K+R}{K+r}\right) \Bigg],$$

as required.

Bibliography

- Aberth, O. : Iteration methods for finding all zeros of a polynomial simultaneously, Math. Comp. 27 339-344 (1973).
- [2] Affane-Aji, C., Agarwal, N., Govil, N. K. : Location of zeros of polynomials, Mathematical and Computer Modeling 50, 306-313 (2009).
- [3] Affane-Aji, C., Biaz, S., Govil, N. K. : On annuli containing all the zeros of a polynomial, Mathematical and Computer Modeling 52, 1532-1537 (2010).
- [4] Ahn, Y. J., Kim, S-H. : Zeros of certain trinomials equations, Math. Ineq. and Appl. 9, 225-232 (2006).
- [5] Anai, H., Horimoto, K.: Algebraic Biology 2005, Proceedings of the First International Conference on Algebraic on Algebraic Biology, Tokyo, Japan, (2005).
- [6] Anderson, N., Saff, E. B., Varga, R. S. : On the Eneström-Kakeya theorem and its sharpness, Linear Algebra and Its Applications, 28, 5-16 (1979).
- [7] Anderson, N., Saff, E. B., Varga, R. S. : An extension of the Eneström-Kakeya theorem and its sharpness, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 12, 10-22 (1981).
- [8] Ankeny, N. C., Rivlin, T. J. : On a theorem of S. Bernstein, Pacific J. Math., 5, 849-852 (1955).
- [9] Aziz, A. : Growth of polynomials whose zeros are within or outside a circle, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 35, 247-256 (1987).
- [10] Aziz, A., Mohammad, Q. G. : Simple proof of a theorem of Erdös and Lax, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 80, 119-122 (1980).
- [11] Aziz, A., Mohammad, G. : Growth of polynomials with zeros outside a circle, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 81, 549-553 (1981).
- [12] Aziz, A., Rather, N. A. : Location of zeros of Trinomials and Quadrinomials, Math. Ineq. and Appl., 17, 823-829 (2014).
- [13] Aziz, A., Zargar, B. A. : Some extensions of Eneström-Kakeya Theorem, Glas. Mat., Ser. III 31, 239-244 (1996).
- [14] Aziz, A., Zargar, B. A. : Growth of maximum modulus of polynomials with prescribed zeros, Glasnik Matematićki, 37, 73-81 (2002).
- [15] Aziz, A., Zargar, B. A. : Bounds for the zeros of a polynomial with restricted coefficients, Applied Math., Irvine 3, 30-33 (2012).
- [16] Bernhart, F. R. : Catalan, Motzkin, and Riorden numbers, Discrete Math., 204, 73-112 (1999).
- [17] Berwald, L. : Elementare Sätze uber die Abgrenzung der Wursln einer algebraischen Gleichung, Acta. Sci. Math. Litt. Sci. Szeged 6, 209-221 (1934).
- [18] Biernacki, M. : Sur les équations algébriques contenant des paramètres arbitraires, Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Sér. A 541-685 (1927).
- [19] Birkhoff, G. D. : An Elementary double inequality for the roots of an algebraic equation having greatest value, Bull. Amer. Math. Society **21**, 494-495 (1914).
- [20] Bissel, C. : Control Engineering, 2nd Edition, CRC Press, (2009).
- [21] Boas, R. P. : Inequalities for the derivatives of polynomials, Mathematics Magazine, 42, 165-174 (1969).
- [22] Borwein, P., Erdelyi, T. : Polynomials and Polynomial Inequalities, Springer, (1995).
- [23] Carmichael, R. D., Mason, T. E. : Note on the roots of algebraic equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Society, 21, 14-22 (1914).
- [24] Cauchy, A. L. : Excercises de mathematiques, IV Annee de Bure Freres, Paris, (1829).
- [25] Cohn, A.: Uber die Anzahl der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung in einen Kreise, Math. Z., 14, 110-148 (1922).
- [26] Dalal, Aseem, Govil, N. K. : On region containing all the zeros of a polynomial, Appl. Math. Comp., 219, 9609-9614 (2013).
- [27] Dalal, Aseem, Govil, N. K. : Annulus containing all the zeros of a polynomial, Appl. Math. Comp., 249, 429-435 (2014).
- [28] Datt, B., Govil, N. K. : On the location of zeros of polynomials, J. Approx. Theory, 24, 78-82 (1978).
- [29] Dehmer, M. : On the location of zeros of complex polynomials, Journal of Inequalities in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 7(1) (2006).
- [30] Dehmer, M., Mowshowitz, A. : Bounds on the moduli of polynomial zeros, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 218, 4128-4137 (2011).
- [31] Dehmer, M., Tsoy, Y. R. : The quality of zero Bounds for Complex Polynomials, PLoS ONE, 7(7): doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039537, (2012).
- [32] Deng, Y. P. Eva, Yan, Wei-Jun : Some identities on the Catalan, Motzkin and Schröder numbers, Discrete Applied Mathematics, 156, 2781-2789 (2008).

- [33] Deutsch, E., Shapiro, L. W. : A bijection between ordered trees and 2-Motzkin paths and its many consequences, Discrete Math., **256**, 655-670 (2002).
- [34] Dewan, K. K. : Extremal Properties and Coefficient Estimates for Polynomials with Restricted Zeros and on Location of Zeros of Polynomials, Ph.D Thesis, Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi, 1980.
- [35] Dewan, K. K. : On the location of zeros of polynomials, Mathematics Student, 50, 170-175 (1982).
- [36] Dewan, K. K. : Another proof of a theorem of Ankeny and Rivlin, Glasnik Mathematički, 18, 291-293 (1983).
- [37] Dewan, K. K., Ahuja, A. : Growth of polynomials with prescribed zeros, Journal of Mathematical Inequalities, 5, 355-361 (2011).
- [38] Dewan, K. K., Bhat, A. A. : On the maximum modulus of polynomials not vanishing inside the unit circle, J. Interdisciplinary Math., 1, 129-140 (1998).
- [39] Diaz-Barrero, J. L. : Note on bounds of the zeros, Missouri Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 14, 88-91 (2002).
- [40] Diaz-Barrero, J. L. : An annulus for the zeros of polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 273, 349-352 (2002).
- [41] Diaz-Barrero, J. L., Egozcue, J.J. : Bounds for the moduli of zeros, Applied Math. Letters, 17, 993-996 (2004).
- [42] Dieudonné, J. : La théorie analytique des polynômes d'une variable, Mémor. Sci. Math., 14, (1938).
- [43] Duffin, R. J., Schaeffer, C. : Some properties of functions of exponential type, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 44, 236-240 (1938).
- [44] Ehrlich, L. W. : A modified Newton method for polynomials, Comm. ACM, 10, 107-108 (1967).
- [45] Eneström, G. : Härledning af en allmän formel för antalet pensionärer ..., Ofv. af. Kungl. Vetenskaps-Akademiens Förhandlingen, Stockholm, (6)(1893).
- [46] Fejér, L. : Ueber Kreisgebiete, in denen eine Wurzel einer algebraischen Glieichung liegt, Jber. Deutsch. Math. Verein., 26, 114-128 (1917).
- [47] Fell, H. : The geometry of zeros of Trinomials equations, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 28(2), 303-336 (1980).
- [48] Frappier, C., Rahman, Q. I. : On an Inequality of S. Bernstein, Can. J. Math., 34(4), 932-944 (1982).

- [49] Fujiwara, M. : A Ueber die Wurzeln der algebraischen Gleichungen, Tôhoku Math. J., 8, 78-85 (1915).
- [50] Gardner, R. B., Govil, N. K. : Eneström-Kakeya Theorem and Some of its Generalizations, Current Topics in Pure and Computational Complex Analysis, Springer, 171-200 (2014).
- [51] Gardner, R. B., Govil, N. K., Weems, A. : Some results concerning rate of growth of polynomials, East Journal of Approximation, 10, 301-312 (2004).
- [52] Gardner, R. B., Govil, N. K., Musukula, S. R. : Rate of growth of polynomials not vanishing inside a circle, Journal of Inequalities in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 6 Issue 2, article 53 (2005).
- [53] Gardner, R., Shields, Brett : The Number of Zeros of a Polynomial in a Disk, Journal of Classical Analysis, 3(2), 167-176 (2013).
- [54] Gauss, K. F. : Beiträge zur Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, Abh. Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, 4, Ges. Werke, 3, 73-102 (1850).
- [55] Goodman, A. W., Schoenberg, I. J. : A proof of Grace's theorem by induction, Honam Math. J., 9, 1-6 (1987).
- [56] Govil, N. K. : On the maximum modulus of polynomials, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 112, 253-258 (1985).
- [57] Govil, N. K. : On the maximum modulus of polynomials not vanishing inside the unit circle, Approx. Theory and its Applications, 5, 79-82 (1989).
- [58] Govil, N. K. : Some Inequalities of Derivatives of Polynomials, Journal of Approximation Theory, 66, 29-31 (1991).
- [59] Govil, N. K. : On a Theorem of Ankeny and Rivlin Concerning Maximum Modulus of Polynomials, Complex Variables, 40, 249-259 (2000).
- [60] Govil, N. K. : On Growth of polynomials, J. of Inequality and Applications, 7(5), 623-631 (2002).
- [61] Govil, N. K., Mohapatra, R. N. : Markov and Bernstein Type inequalities for Polynomials, J. of Inequal. and Appl., 3, 349-387 (1999).
- [62] Govil, N. K., Nwaeze, E. R. : On Geometry of the Zeros of a polynomial, Computation, Cryptography, and Network Security, Springer International, 253-287 (2015).
- [63] Govil, N. K., Nwaeze, E. R. : Bernstein Type Inequalities concerning Growth of Polynomials, Mathematical Analysis, Approximation Theory and their Applications, accepted and to be published by Springer International, (2015).
- [64] Govil, N. K., Nyuydinkong, G. : On maximum modulus of polynomials not vanishing inside a circle, J. Interdisciplinary Math., 4, 93-100 (2001).

- [65] Govil, N. K., Rahman, Q. I. : On the Eneström-Kakeya theorem, Tôhoku Math. J. Sec. Ser., 20(2), 126-136 (1968).
- [66] Govil, N. K., Qazi, M. A. : On Maximum Modulus of Polynomials and Related Entire Functions with restricted Zeros, Mathematical Inequalities and Applications, 5, 57-60 (2002).
- [67] Govil, N. K., Qazi, M. A., Rahman, Q. I. : Inequalities describing the growth of polynomials not vanishing in a disk of prescribed radius, Mathematical Inequalities and Applications, 6(6), (2003).
- [68] Grace, J. H. : The zeros of a polynomial, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc., 11, 352-357 (1901).
- [69] Griffiths, M., Mezö, I. : A Generalization of Stirling Numbers of the second Kind via a Special Multiset, J. of Integer Sequences, 13, Article 10.2.5 (2010).
- [70] Heitzinger, W., Troch, W. I., Valentin, G. : Praxisnichtlinearer Gleichungen, Carl Hanser Varlag, München-Wien, (1985).
- [71] Jain, V. K. : On Maximum Modulus of Polynomials With Zeros Outside a Circle, Glasnik Mathematički, 29(49), 267-274 (1994).
- [72] Jain, V. K. : Certain interesting implications of T. J. Rivlins's result on maximum modulus of a polynomial, Glasnik Mathematički, 33, 33-36 (1998).
- [73] Jain, V. K. : On Cauchy's bound for zeros of a polynomial, Turk. Jour. Math., 30, 95-100 (2006).
- [74] Jankowski, W. : Sur les zéros dún polynomial contenant un paramètres arbitraires, Ann. Polon. Math., 3, 304-311 (1957).
- [75] Joyal, A., Labelle, G., Rahman, Q. I. : On the location of zeros of polynomials, Canad. Math. Bull., 10, 53-63 (1967).
- [76] Kakeya, S. : On the limits of the roots of an algebraic equation with positive coefficients, Tôhoku Math. J., 2, 140-142 (1912-1913).
- [77] Kalantari, B. : An infinite family of bounds on zeros of analytic functions and relationship to smale's bound, Mathematics of Computation, 74, 841-852 (2005).
- [78] Kelleher, S. B. : Des limites des zéroes d'une polynome, J. Math. Pures Appl., 2, 167-171 (1916).
- [79] Kim, Seon-Hong : On the moduli of the zeros of a polynomial, American Math. Monthly, 112, 924-925 (2005).
- [80] Kojima, J. : On the theorem of Hadamard and its applications, Tôhoku Mathematical Journal, 5, 54-60 (1914).

- [81] Kovačević, M., Milovanović, I. : On a generation of the Eneström-Kakeya Theorem, Pure Math. and Appl., Ser. A 3, 43-47 (1992).
- [82] Kumar, S., Lal, R. : Generalizations of some polynomial inequalities, International Electronic Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics (IEJPAM), **3**(2), (2011).
- [83] Kuniyeda, M. : Notes on the roots of algebraic equation, Tôhoku Math. J., 9, 167-173 (1916).
- [84] Landau, E. : Uber den Picardschen Satz, Vierteijahrsschrift Naturforsch. Gesellschaft Zürich, 51, 252-318 (1906).
- [85] Landau, E. : Sur quelques généralisations du théorème de M. Picard, Ann. École Norm, 24(3), 179-201 (1907).
- [86] Lax, P. D. : Proof of a conjecture of P. Erdös on the derivatives of a polynomial, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 50, 509-513 (1944).
- [87] Marden, M. : Geometry of polynomials, Amer. Math. Soc., Math. Surveys, 3, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI. (1966).
- [88] Marden, M. : The zeros of certain composite polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 49, 93-100 (1943).
- [89] Markov, A. A : On a problem of D. I. Mendeleev (Russian), Zapiski Imp. Akad. Nauk, 62, 1-24 (1889).
- [90] Markov, V. A : Uber Polynome die in einem gegebenen Intervalle möglichst wenig von null abweichen, Math. Annalen, 77, 213-258 (1916).
- [91] Markovitch, D. : On the composite polynomials, Bull. Soc. Math. Phys. Serbie, 3(3-4), 11-14 (1951).
- [92] Milovanović, G. V., Petković, M.S. : On computational efficiency of the iterative methods for the simultaneous approximation of polynomial zeros, ACM Trans. Math. Software, 12, 295-306 (1986).
- [93] Milovanovic, G. V., Mitrinovic, D. S., Rassias, Th. M. : Topics in polynomials: Extremal Problems, Inequalities, Zeros, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., (1994).
- [94] Milovanovic, G. V., Rassias, M. Th. : Analytic Number Theory, Approximation Theory, and Special Function, Springer, (2014).
- [95] Mohammad, Q. G. : On the Zeros of Polynomials, American Mathematical Monthly, 72(6), 631-633 (1965).
- [96] Montel, P. : Sur la limite supéieure des modules des zérosdes polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 193, 974-976 (1931).
- [97] Nehari, Z.: Conformal mapping, McGraw Hill, New York (1952).

- [98] Nourein, A. W. M. : An improvement on two iteration methods for simultaneously determination of the zeros of a polynomial, Internat. J. Comput. Math., 6, 241-252 (1977).
- [99] Pachter, L., Sturmdfels, B. : Algebraic Statistics for Computational Biology, Cambridge University Press, (2005).
- [100] Peretz, R., Rassias, Th. M. : Some remarks on theorems of M. Marden concerning the zeros of certain composite polynomials, Complex Variables, 18, 85-89 (1992).
- [101] Petković, Miodrag S. : A highly efficient root-solver of very fast convergence, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 205, 298-302 (2008).
- [102] Pinkus, A., de Boor, C. : A Homepage on the History of Appproximation Theory, <www.math.technion.ac.il>.
- [103] Pólya, G., Szegő, G. : Aufgaben und Lehrsätze aus der Analysis, 4th Edition Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1, (1970).
- [104] Prasolov, V. V. : Polynomials, Springer, (2004).
- [105] Pukhta, M. S. : On the Zeros of Polynomials, Applied Mathematics, 2, 1356-1358 (2011).
- [106] Pukhta, M. S. : Rate of growth of polynomials with zeros on the unit Disc, Progress in Applied Mathematics, 6(2), 50-58 (2013).
- [107] Pukhta, M. S. : Growth of the maximum modulus of polynomials with prescribed zeros, Journal of Classical Analysis, 5(2), 107-113 (2014).
- [108] Qazi, M. A. : On the maximum modulus of polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 115(2), (1992).
- [109] Rahman, Q. I., Schmeisser, G. : Les inégalités de Markoff et de Bernstein, Les Presses de l'Université de Montréal, Canada, (1983).
- [110] Rahman, Q. I., Schmeisser, G. : Analytic Theory of Polynomials, Oxford University Press, New York, (2002).
- [111] Rather, N. A., Shah, Mushtaq A. : On the location of Zeros of a Polynomials with restricted coefficients, Acta et commentationes universitatis tartuensis de mathematica, 18(2), (2014).
- [112] Riesz, M. : Uber einen Satz des Herrn Serge Bernstein, Acta. Math., 40, 337-347 (1916).
- [113] Rivlin, T. J. : On the maximum modulus of polynomials, Amer. Math. Monthly, 67, 251-253 (1960).

- [114] Rubinstein, Z. : Some results in the location of the zeros of linear combinations of polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 116, 1-8 (1965).
- [115] Sagan, H. : Boundary and Eigenvalue Problems in Mathematical Physics, Dover Publications, (1989).
- [116] Schur, J. : Zwei Sätze über algebraische Gleichungen mit lauter rellen Wurzeln, J. Reine Agnew. Math., 144, 75-88 (1914).
- [117] Sharma, A., Singh, V. : Some Bernstein Type Inequalities for Polynomials, Analysis, 5, 321-341 (1985).
- [118] Sun, Y. J., Hsieh, J. G. : A note on circular bound of polynomial zeros, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I, 43, 476-478 (1996).
- [119] Szegő, G. : Bemerkungen zu einem Satz von J. H. Grace über die Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Math. Z., 13, 28-55 (1922).
- [120] Titchmarsh, E. C. : The Theory of Functions, 2nd Edition, Oxford University Press, London, (1939).
- [121] Tôya, T. : Some remarks on Montel's paper concerning upper limits of absolute values of roots of algebraic equations, Sci. Rep. Tokyo Bunrika Daigaku, A1, 275-282 (1933).
- [122] Varga, R. S. : A comparison of the successive overrelaxation method and semi-iterative methods using Chebyshev polynomials, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math., 5, 39-46 (1957).
- [123] Visser, C. : A simple proof of certain inequalities concerning polynomials, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc., 47, 276-281 (1945).
- [124] Walsh, J. L. : An inequality for the roots of an algebraic equation, Ann. of Math., 25, 285-286 (1924).
- [125] Williams, K. P. : Note concerning the roots of an equation, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 28, 394-396 (1922).
- [126] Zedek, Misheal : Continuity and location of zeros of linear combination of polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 16, 78-84 (1965).
- [127] Zeheb, F. : On the largest modulus of polynomial zeros, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst., I 49, 333-337 (1991).
- [128] Zilović, M. S., Roytman, L. M., Combettes, P. L., Swamy, M. N. S. : A bound for the zeros of polynomials, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst., I 39, 476-478 (1992).
- [129] Zölzer, U.: Digital Audio Signal Processing, John Wiley & Sons, (1997).